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STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES 

DIVISION FOR BERA VJORAL HEALTH 

129 PLEASANT STREET, CONCORD, NH 03301 
603-271-9544 1-800-852-3345 Ext. 9544 

Fax: 603-271-4332 TDD Access: 1-800-735-2964 www.dhhs.nh.gov 

June 9, 2021 

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu 
and the Honorable Council 

State House 
Concord, New Hampshire 03301 

REQUESTED ACTION 

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, Division for Behavioral Health, 
to enter into a contract with NAMI New Hampshire (VC#166630), Concord, NH, in the amount of 
$1, 195,274 for family mutual support and suicide prevention services with the option to renew for 
up to four (4) additional years, effective upon Governor and Council approval for the period from 
July 1, 2021, through June 30, 2023. 100% General Funds. 

Funds are anticipated to be available in in the following accounts for State Fiscal Years 
2022 and 2023, upon the availability and continued appropriation of funds in the future operating 
budget, with the authority to adjust budget line items within the price limitation and encumbrances 
between state fiscal years through the Budget Office, if needed and justified. 

05-95-092-922010-41190000-102-500731 HEALTH ANO SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH ANO 
HUMAN SVCS DEPT OF, HHS: BEHAVIORAL HEALTH DIV OF, BUREAU OF MENTAL 
HEAL TH SERVICES, FAMILY MUTUAL SUPPORT SERVICES 

------'" State Class/ 
Class Title Job Number Total Amount 

Fiscal Year Account 

2022 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 92204119 $497,637 

2023 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 92204119 $497,637 

Subtotal $995,274 

05-95-092-922010-41170000-102-500731 HEALTH ANO SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND 
HUMAN SVCS DEPT OF, HHS: BEHAVIORAL HEALTH DIV OF, BUREAU OF MENTAL 
HEAL TH SERVICES, CMH PROGRAM SUPPORT 

State 
Fiscal Year 

2022 

2023 

--·-
Class/ Class Title Job Number Total Amount 

Account 

102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 92204117 $100,000 

102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 92204117 $100,000 

Subtotal $200,000 

Total $1,195,274 
'" 

The Department of Health and Human Seruir:es' Mission is to join communities and families 
in providing opportunities for citizens to achieve health and independence. 



His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu 
and the Honorable Council 

Page 2 of 3 

EXPLANATION 

The purpose of this request is to provide family mutual support, public education, and 
suicide prevention services through support, education and advocacy for adults and their families 
affected by serious mental illness, as well as children and their families affected by serious 
emotional disturbances. 

The Contractor will provide services to adults age 18 years of age and older with a Serious 
Mental Illness (SMI), and theirfamilies; children under age 18 years of age with Serious Emotional 
Disturbance (SEO), and their families; professional staff members providing services to these 
populations; and the general public. 

Approximately 11,000 individuals and families will be served from July 1, 2021 to June 30, 
2023. 

The Contractor will provide peer-run support groups, education classes, trainings, and 
advocacy opportunities for individuals and families affected by mental illness throughout the state. 
They will also provide an array of training sessions on best practices for suicide prevention and 
post intervention for individuals, family members, service providers, and the general public. 
Additional training sessions on crisis intervention, suicide intervention and peer leadership training 
will be provided. 

The Contractor will also provide information to the public through web-based media, and 
distribute electronic and printed materials, with approval from the Department, on topics that 
include family support and education programs and resources for survivors of a suicide loss. 

The Contractor will participate on the New Hampshire Suicide Prevention Council as a 
member organization, and will serve as the fiscal agent for $100,000 of designated state general 
funds to support implementation of the goals of the suicide prevention council's strategic plan. 

The Department will monitor contracted services using the following performance 
measures: 

• The total number of training sessions provided during the previous month. 

• The number of individuals who participated in each training session. 

• Individual and collective results of pre and post tests for each type of training. 

• The number of contacts made with stakeholders and the general public in providing 
mental health support and resources, and public speaking engagements. 

• The number of web-based/electronic postings and resources disseminated each 
month. 

• The number of technical assistance hours spent with education, support, and 
leadership programs. 

The Department selected the Contractor through a competitive bid process using a 
Request for Proposals (RFP) that was posted on the Department's website from 3/30/2021 
through 4/26/2021. The Department received one (1) response that was reviewed and scored by 
a team of qualified individuals. The Scoring Sheet is attached. 

As referenced in Exhibit A, Revisions to Standard Agreement Provisions, Section 1, 
1. Revisions to Form P-37, General Provisions, Subsection 1.1 of the attached contract, the parties 
have the option to extend the agreement for up to four (4) additional years, contingent upon 
satisfactory delivery of services, available funding, agreement of the parties, and Governor and 
Council approval. 
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Should the Governor and Council not authorize this request, individuals with severe and 
persistent mental illness, their families, and parents and families of children with serious emotional 
disturbances may not have access to services that assist them to navigate the mental health 
system. In addition, families and professionals may not have access to training, or to support 
group leadership and advocacy networks that provide assistance to prevent suicide. This could 
result in an increase in the rate of suicides statewide. 

Area served: Statewide 

Respectfully submitted, 

Lori A Shibinette 
Commissioner 



Family Mutual Support Services 

RFP Name 

Bidder Name 

1· NAMI 

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services 
Office of Business Operations 
Contracts & Procurement Unit 

Scoring Sheet 

RFP-2022-DBH-01-FAMIL 

RFP Number 

Maximum Actual 
Pass/Fail Points Points 

350 329 



DocuSign Envelope ID: F9O0137D-B41 C-451A-A513-8B5ACE5B93FD 
FORM NUl\/lBER P-37 (version 12/11/2019) 

Subject:_Family Mutual Support Services (RFP-2022-DBH-01-F AMIL) 

Notice: This agreement and all of its attachments shall become public upon submission to Governor and 
Executive Council for approval. Any information that is private, confidential or proprietary must 
be clearly identified to the agency and agreed to in writing prior to signing the contract. 

AGREEMENT 
The State of New Hampshire and the Contractor hereby mutually agree as follows: 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

1. IDENTIFICATION. 
1.1 State Agency Name 1.2 State Agency Address 

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services 129 Pleasant Street 
Concord, NH 03301-3857 

1.3 Contractor Name 1.4 Contractor Address 

N AMI New Hampshire 85 N011h State Street 
Concord, NH 03301 

1.5 Contractor Phone 1.6 Account Number 1.7 Completion Date 1.8 Price Limitation 
Number 

05-095-092-922010- June 30, 2023 $1,195,274 
(603) 225-5359 41190000-102-500731 

05-095-092-922010-
41170000-102-500731 

1.9 Contracting Officer for State Agency 1.10 State Agency Telephone Number 

Nathan D. White, Director (603) 271-9631 

1.11 Contractor Signature 1.12 Name and Title of Contractor Signatory 

l~y:fJ6vt~L\,J UCSUJ 
Kenneth Norton, LICSW 

Date: 6/8/2021 
Executive Director 

1.13 State~ Agency Signature 1.14 Name and Title of State Agency Signatory 

~;i;:y Date: 6/8/2021 
Katja FOX 

Director 

1.15 Approval by the N.H. Department of Administration, Division of Personnel (if applicable) 

By: Director, On: 

1.16 Approval by the Attorney General (Form, Substance and Execution) (if applicable) 

By:l~ On: 6/9/2021 

1.17 Approval by the liovernor and Executive Council (if applicahlc) 

G&C Item number: G&C Meeting Date: 

Pagelof4 
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2. SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED. The State of New 
Hampshire, acting through the agency identified in block 1.1 
("State"), engages contractor identified in block 1.3 
("Contractor'") to perform. and the Contractor shall perform. the 
work or sale of goods, or both, identified and more particularly 
described in the attached EXHIBIT B which is incorporated 
herein by reference ("'Services"). 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE/COMPLETION OF SERVICES. 
3.1 Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the 
contrary, and subject to the approval of the Governor and 
Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire, if applicable, 
this Agreement, and all obligations of the parties hereunder, shall 
become effective on the date the Governor and Executive 
Council approve this Agreement as indicated in block 1.17, 
unless no such approval is required, in which case the Agreement 
shall become effective on the date the Agreement is signed by 
the State Agency as shown in block 1.13 ("Effective Date"). 
3.2 If the Contractor commences the Services prior to the 
Effective Date, all Services performed by the Contractor prior to 
the Effective Date shall be performed at the sole risk of the 
Contractor, and in the event that this Agreement does not become 
effective, the State shall have no liability to the Contractor, 
including without limitation, any obligation to pay the 
Contractor for any costs incurred or Services performed. 
Contractor must complete all Services by the Completion Date 
specified in block 1.7. 

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT. 
Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the 
contrary, all obligations of the State hereunder, including, 
without limitation, the continuance of payments hereunder, are 
contingent upon the availability and continued appropriation of 
funds affected by any state or federal legislative or executive 
action that reduces, eliminates or otherwise modifies the 
appropriation or availability of funding for this Agreement and 
the Scope for Services provided in EXHIBIT B, in whole or in 
part. In no event shall the State be liable for any payments 
hereunder in excess of such available appropriated funds. In the 
event of a reduction or termination of appropriated funds, the 
State shall have the right to withhold payment until such funds 
become available, if ever, and shall have the right to reduce or 
terminate the Services under this Agreement immediately upon 
giving the Contractor notice of such reduction or termination. 
The State shall not be required to transfer funds from any other 
account or source to the Account identified in block 1.6 in the 
event funds in that Account are reduced or unavailable. 

5. CONTRACT PRICE/PRICE LIMITATION/ 
PAYMENT. 
5.1 The contract price, method of payment, and terms of payment 
are identified and more particularly described in EXHIBIT C 
which is incorporated herein by reference. 
5.2 The payment by the State of the contract price shall be the 
only and the complete reimbursement to the Contractor for all 
expenses, of whatever nature incurred by the Contractor in the 
performance hereof, and shall be the only and the complete 

compensation to the Contractor for the Services. The State shall 
have no liability to the Contractor other than the contract price. 
5.3 The State reserves the right to offset from any amounts 
otherwise payable to the Contractor under this Agreement those 
liquidated amounts required or permitted by N.H. RSA 80:7 
through RSA 80:7-c or any other provision of law. 
5.4 Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the 
contrary, and notwithstanding unexpected circumstances, in no 
event shall the total of all payments authorized, or actually made 
hereunder. exceed the Price Limitation set forth in block 1.8. 

6. COMPLIANCE BY CONTRACTOR WITH LAWS 
AND REGULATIONS/ EQUAL EMPLOYMENT 
OPPORTUNITY. 
6.1 In connection with the performance of the Services, the 
Contractor shall comply with all applicable statutes, laws, 
regulations, and orders of federal, state, county or municipal 
authorities which impose any obligation or duty upon the 
Contractor, including, but not limited to, civil rights and equal 
employment opportunity laws. In addition, if this Agreement is 
funded in any part by monies of the United States, the Contractor 
shall comply with all federal executive orders, rules, regulations 
and statutes, and with any rules, regulations and guidelines as the 
State or the United States issue to implement these regulations. 
The Contractor shall also comply with all applicable intellectual 
property laws. 
6.2 During the term of this Agreement, the Contractor shall not 
discriminate against employees or applicants for employment 
because of race, color, religion, creed, age, sex, handicap, sexual 
orientation, or national origin and will take affirmative action to 
prevent such discrimination. 
6.3. The Contractor agrees to permit the State or United States 
access to any of the Contractor's books, records and accounts for 
the purpose of ascertaining compliance with all rules, regulations 
and orders, and the covenants, terms and conditions of this 
Agreement. 

7. PERSONNEL. 
7.1 The Contractor shall at its own expense provide all personnel 
necessary to perform the Services. The Contractor warrants that 
all personnel engaged in the Services shall be qualified to 
perform the Services, and shall be properly licensed and 
otherwise authorized to do so under all applicable laws. 
7.2 Unless otherwise authorized in writing, during the term of 
this Agreement, and for a period of six (6) months after the 
Completion Date in block 1.7, the Contractor shall not hire, and 
shall not permit any subcontractor or other person, firm or 
corporation with whom it is engaged in a combined effort to 
perform the Services to hire, any person who is a State employee 
or official, who is materially involved in the procurement, 
administration or performance of this Agreement. This 
provision shall survive termination of this Agreement. 
7.3 The Contracting Officer specified in block 1.9, or his or her 
successor. shall be the State's representative. In the event of any 
dispute concerning the interpretation of this Agreement, the 
Contracting Officer·s decision shall be final for the State. 

Page 2 of 4 
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8. EVENT OF DEFAULT/REMEDIES. 
8.1 Any one or more of the following acts or omissions of the 
Contractor shall constitute an event of default hereunder (--Event 
of Default"): 
8.1.1 failure to perform the Services satisfactorily or on 
schedule; 
8.1.2 failure to submit any report required hereunder; and/or 
8.1.3 failure to perform any other covenant. term or condition of 
this Agreement. 
8.2 Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the State may 
take any one, or more, or all, of the following actions: 
8.2.1 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of 
Default and requiring it to be remedied within, in the absence of 
a greater or lesser specification of time, thirty (30) days from the 
date of the notice; and if the Event of Default is not timely cured, 
terminate this Agreement, effective two (2) days after giving the 
Contractor notice of termination; 
8.2.2 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of 
Default and suspending all payments to be made under this 
Agreement and ordering that the portion of the contract price 
which would otherwise accrue to the Contractor during the 
period from the date of such notice until such time as the State 
determines that the Contractor has cured the Event of Default 
shall never be paid to the Contractor; 
8.2.3 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of 
Default and set off against any other obligations the State may 
owe to the Contractor any damages the State suffers by reason of 
any Event of Default; and/or 
8.2.4 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event of 
Default, treat the Agreement as breached, terminate the 
Agreement and pursue any of its remedies at law or in equity, or 
both. 
8.3. No failure by the State to enforce any provisions hereof after 
any Event of Default shall be deemed a waiver of its rights with 
regard to that Event of Default, or any subsequent Event of 
Default. No express failure to enforce any Event of Default shall 
be deemed a waiver of the right of the State to enforce each and 
all of the provisions hereof upon any further or other Event of 
Default on the part of the Contractor. 

9. TERMINATION. 
9.1 Notwithstanding paragraph 8, the State may, at its sole 
discretion, terminate the Agreement for any reason, in whole or 
in part, by thirty (30) days written notice to the Contractor that 
the State is exercising its option to terminate the Agreement. 
9.2 In the event of an early termination of this Agreement for 
any reason other than the completion of the Services, the 
Contractor shall, at the State· s discretion, deliver to the 
Contracting Officer, not later than fifteen ( 15) days atter the date 
of termination, a report ("Termination Report") describing in 
detail all Services performed, and the contract price earned, to 
and including the date of termination. The form, subject matter, 
content, and number of copies of the Termination Report shall 
be identical to those of any Final Report described in the attached 
EXHIBIT B. In addition. at the State's discretion, the Contractor 
shall, within 15 days of notice of early termination, develop and 

submit to the State a Transition Plan for services under the 
Agreement. 

1 O. DAT A/ ACCESS/CONFIDENTIALITY I 
PRESERVATION. 
10.1 As used in this Agreement. the word "data" shall mean all 
information and things developed or obtained during the 
performance of, or acquired or developed by reason of, this 
Agreement, including, but not limited to. all studies. reports, 
files. formulae, surveys. maps, charts, sound recordings, video 
recordings. pictorial reproductions, drawings, analyses, graphic 
representations, computer programs. computer printouts, notes, 
letters, memoranda, papers, and documents. all whether 
finished or unfinished. 
10.2 All data and any property which has been received from 
the State or purchased with funds provided for that purpose 
under this Agreement, shall be the prope1iy of the State, and 
shall be returned to the State upon demand or upon termination 
of this Agreement for any reason. 
10.3 Confidentiality of data shall be governed by N.H. RSA 
chapter 91-A or other existing law. Disclosure of data requires 
prior written approval of the State. 

11. CONTRACTOR'S RELATION TO THE STATE. In the 
performance of this Agreement the Contractor is in all respects 
an independent contractor, and is neither an agent nor an 
employee of the State. Neither the Contractor nor any of its 
officers, employees. agents or members shall have authority to 
bind the State or receive any benefits. workers' compensation or 
other emoluments provided by the State to its employees. 

12. ASSIGNMENT/DELEGATION/SUBCONTRACTS. 
12 .1 The Contractor shall not assign, or otherwise transfer any 
interest in this Agreement without the prior written notice, which 
shall be provided to the State at least fifteen (15) days prior to 
the assignment, and a written consent of the State. For purposes 
of this paragraph, a Change of Control shall constitute 
assignment. "Change of Control" means (a) merger, 
consolidation, or a transaction or series of related transactions in 
which a third party, together with its affiliates, becomes the 
direct or indirect owner of fifty percent (50%) or more of the 
voting shares or similar equity interests, or combined voting 
power of the Contractor, or (b) the sale of all or substantially all 
of the assets of the Contractor. 
12.2 None of the Services shall be subcontracted by the 
Contractor without prior written notice and consent of the State. 
The State is entitled to copies of all subcontracts and assignment 
agreements and shall not be bound by any provisions contained 
in a subcontract or an assignment agreement to which it is not a 
party. 

13. INDEMNIFICATION. Unless otherwise exempted by law, 
the Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the State, its 
officers and employees, from and against any and all claims, 
liabilities and costs for any personal injury or property damages, 
patent or copyright infringement, or other claims asserted against 
the State, its officers or employees, which arise out of ( or which 
may be claimed to arise out of) the acts or omi~ssio~

5 
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Contractor, or subcontractors, including but not limited to the 
negligence. reckless or intentional conduct. The State shal I not 
be liable for any costs incurred by the Contractor arising under 
this paragraph 13. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein 
contained shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of the sovereign 
immunity of the State, which immunity is hereby reserved to the 
State.· This covenant in paragraph 13 shall survi\e the 
termination of this Agreement. 

14. INSURANCE. 
14.1 The Contractor shall, at its sole expense, obtain and 
continuously maintain in force, and shall require any 
subcontractor or assignee to obtain and maintain in force. the 
following insurance: 
14.1.1 commercial general liability insurance against all claims 
of bodily injury, death or property damage, in amounts of not 
less than $1.000,000 per occurrence and $2.000,000 aggregate 
or excess; and 
14.1.2 special cause of loss coverage form covering all prope1iy 
subject to subparagraph 10.2 herein, in an amount not less than 
80% of the whole replacement value of the prope1iy. 
14.2 The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shall be 
on policy forms and endorsements approved for use in the State 
of New Hampshire by the N.H. Department of Insurance, and 
issued by insurers licensed in the State of New Hampshire. 
14.3 The Contractor shall furnish to the Contracting Officer 
identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor. a certificate(s) of 
insurance for all insurance required under this Agreement. 
Contractor shall also furnish to the Contracting Officer identified 
in block 1.9, or his or her successor, certificate(s) of insurance 
for all renewal(s) of insurance required under this Agreement no 
later than ten ( 10) days prior to the expiration date of each 
insurance policy. The certificate(s) of insurance and any 
renewals thereof shall be attached and are incorporated herein by 
reference. 

15. WORKERS' COMPENSATION. 
15.1 By signing this agreement, the Contractor agrees, ce1iifies 
and warrants that the Contractor is in compliance with or exempt 
from, the requirements ofN.H. RSA chapter 281-A t· Workers' 
Compensation"). 
15.2 To the extent the Contractor is subject to the requirements 
of N.H. RSA chapter 281-A, Contractor shall maintain, and 
require any subcontractor or assignee to secure and maintain. 
payment of Workers' Compensation in connection with 
activities which the person proposes to unde1iake pursuant to this 
Agreement. The Contractor shall furnish the Contracting Officer 
identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor. proofofWorkers' 
Compensation in the manner described in N.H. RSA chapter 
281-A and any applicable renewal(s) thereof, which shall be 
attached and are incorporated herein by reference. The State 
shall not be responsible for payment of any Workers' 
Compensation premiums or for any other claim or benefit for 
Contractor, or any subcontractor or employee of Contractor, 
which might arise under applicable State of New Hampshire 
Workers' Compensation laws in connection with the 
performance of the Services under this Agreement. 

16. NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the other party 
shall be deemed to have been duly delivered or given at the time 
of mailing by certified mail, postage prepaid, in a United States 
Post Office addressed to the parties at the addresses given in 
blocks 1.2 and 1 .4, herein. 

17. A:VIENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended, waived 
or discharged only by an instrument in writing signed by the 
parties hereto and only after approval of such amendment, 
waiver or discharge by the Governor and Executive Council of 
the State of New Hampshire unless no such approval is required 
under the circumstances pursuant to State law, rule or policy. 

18. CHOICE OF LAW AND FORUM. This Agreement shall 
be governed, interpreted and construed in accordance with the 
laws of the State of New Hampshire, and is binding upon and 
inures to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors 
and assigns. The wording used in this Agreement is the wording 
chosen by the parties to express their mutual intent, and no rule 
of construction shall be applied against or in favor of any party. 
Any actions arising out of this Agreement shall be brought and 
maintained in New Hampshire Superior Court which shall have 
exclusive jurisdiction thereof. 

19. CONFLICTING TERMS. In the event of a conflict 
between the terms of this P-37 form (as modified in EXHIBIT 
A) and/or attachments and amendment thereof, the terms of the 
P-37 (as modified in EXHIBIT A) shall control. 

20. THIRD PARTIES. The parties hereto do not intend to 
benefit any third parties and this Agreement shall not be 
construed to confer any such benefit. 

21. HEADINGS. The headings throughout the Agreement are 
for reference purposes only, and the words contained therein 
shall in no way be held to explain, modify, amplify or aid in the 
interpretation, construction or meaning of the provisions of this 
Agreement. 

22. SPECIAL PROVISIONS. Additional or modifying 
provisions set forth in the attached EXHIBIT A are incorporated 
herein by reference. 

23. SEVERABILITY. In the event any of the provisions of this 
Agreement are held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 
contrary to any state or federal law, the remaining provisions of 
this Agreement will remain in full force and effect. 

24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, which may be 
executed in a number of counterparts, each of which shall be 
deemed an original, constitutes the entire agreement and 
understanding between the parties, and supersedes all prior 
agreements and understandings with respect to the subject matter 
hereof. 
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services 
Family Mutual Support Services 

EXHIBIT A 

Revisions to Standard Agreement Provisions 

1. Revisions to Form P-37, General Provisions 

1.1. Paragraph 3, Effective Date/Completion of Services, is amended by adding 
subparagraph 3.3 as follows: 

3.3. The parties may extend the Agreement for up to four (4) additional years 
from the Completion Date, contingent upon satisfactory delivery of 
services, available funding, agreement of the parties, and approval of the 
Governor and Executive Council. 

1.2. Paragraph 12, Assignment/Delegation/Subcontracts, is amended by adding 
subparagraph 12.3 as follows: 

12.3. Subcontractors are subject to the same contractual conditions as the 
Contractor and the Contractor is responsible to ensure subcontractor 
compliance with those conditions. The Contractor shall have written 
agreements with all subcontractors, specifying the work to be performed 
and how corrective action shall be managed if the subcontractor's 
performance is inadequate. The Contractor shall manage the 
subcontractor's performance on an ongoing basis and take corrective 
action as necessary. The Contractor shall annually provide the State with 
a list of all subcontractors provided for under this Agreement and notify 
the State of any inadequate subcontractor performance. 

RFP-2022-DBH-01-FAMIL-01 
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services 
Family Mutual Support Services 

EXHIBIT B 

Scope of Services 

1. Statement of Work 

1.1. The Contractor shall provide services in this Agreement to adults age 18 years 
of age and older with a Serious Mental Illness (SMI), and their families; children 
under age 18 years of age with Serious Emotional Disturbance (SEO), and their 
families; professional staff members providing services to these populations; 
and the general public. 

1.2. The Contractor shall provide the services described below in person, or virtually 
using teleconferencing or distance communication technology due to 
restrictions for COVID-19 safety protocols, if applicable. All services delivered 
virtually must be approved in advance by the Department. 

1.3. The Contractor shall ensure services are available and provided statewide. 

1.4. For the purposes of this agreement, all references to days shall mean calendar 
days. 

Education, Training, and Support Groups 

1.5. The Contractor shall provide one-on-one family support programming, for a 
minimum of one hundred twenty five (125) individuals annually (approximately 
sixty-five (65) adults, thirty-five (35) older adults and twenty-five (25) children), 
which includes, but is not limited to: 

1.5.1. Individualized family support by an individual with lived experience who 
can empathize with the challenges and needs of the families and 
caregivers seeking support and link them with resources. 

1.5.2. Age appropriate support and education to families across the life span 
so they may learn and develop skills to: 

1.5.2.1. Navigate the mental health system; 

1.5.2.2. Manage the stressors that families affected by mental illness 
experience; 

1.5.2.3. Share concerns; 

1.5.2.4. Develop coping skills; 

1.5.2.5. Gain knowledge; 

1.5.2.6. Learn about community resources; and 

1.5.2.7. Provide family members opportunities to: 

1.5.2. 7 .1. Gain confidence; 

1.5.2.7.2. Learn leadership skills, and 

1.5.2.7.3. Move toward advocacy in order to assume active 
roles on state and local boards and commit~ that 

RFP-2022-DBH-01-FAMIL-01 NAMI New Hampshire Contractor Initial~ 
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services 
Family Mutual Support Services 

EXHIBIT B 

focus on mental health related issues and participate 
in the promotion of the 10-Year Mental Health Plan. 

1.6. The Contractor shall provide two (2) web-based support groups, Caregivers of 
Children Support Group and Family and Friends of Adults Support Group, to 
annually serve a minimum of one hundred and twenty (120) families/caregivers 
of children and adolescents with severe emotional disorders, and r families and 
caregivers of adults and older adults with mental illness, moderated by the 
Contractor's staff, to: 

1.6.1. Provide participants with the opportunity to be part of a supportive 
community when they are unable to physically attend other support 
groups; and 

1.6.2. Make peer support, education and resources available to individuals, 
families, and providers. 

1.7. The Contractor shall provide statewide education and training on family mutual 
support programs, which includes, but is not limited to: 

1. 7 .1. Family to Family and/or Family & Friends education classes by trained 
facilitators, for a minimum of seventy- five (75) participants annually who 
have an adult family member with a mental illness, to increase 
knowledge and skills that will enable participants to: 

1.7.1.1. 

1.7.1.2. 

1.7.1.3. 

Understand mental illness; 

Manage personal stressors; 

Engage in and support the treatment and recovery process of 
family members; and 

1. 7 .1.4. Advocate for timely and appropriate services. 

1. 7 .2. Training up to four ( 4) new teachers each year with re-training provided 
via quarterly in-service and support opportunities for up to twenty (20) 
teachers. 

1.8. The Contractor shall provide Side by Side (SbS) curriculum, up to ten (10) 
modules, for a minimum one hundred (100) participants who have an older adult 
family member, or for peers, and paraprofessionals who work with older adults 
with mental illness, to assist participants with: 

1.8.1. Understanding mental illness in combination with other age-related 
issues; 

1.8.2. Accessing supports that assist with being more effective; and 

1.8.3. Empowering older adults with mental illness to take a more active role 
in their care plan. 

1.9. The Contractor shall provide three (3) Connection support groups for up to 
twelve (12) participants per group annually, for people with a mental ill~, to: 
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1.9.1. Learn from and support each other; 

1.9.2. Share the challenges and successes of coping with mental illness; 

1.9.3. Obtain comprehensive information regarding: 

1.9.3.1. How to access mental health services and available resources; 

1.9.3.2. Improvements to New Hampshire's Mental Health System; and 

1.9.3.3. How to engage in system advocacy. 

1.10. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of one (1) National Alliance on Mental 
Illness (NAMI) Peer-to-Peer Education Program for up to fifteen (15) 
participants, which must include, but is not limited to: 

1.10.1. Creating a personalized relapse prevention plan; 

1.10.2. Learn how to interact with health care providers; 

1.10.3. Develop confidence for making decisions and reducing stress; 

1.10.4. Stay up-to-date on mental health research; 

1.10.5. Understand the impact of symptoms on their life; and 

1.10.6. Access practical resources on how to maintain their journey toward 
recovery. 

1.11. The Contractor shall expand its peer support services by offering 
facilitator/leadership training for individuals in recovery. The Contractor shall 
train: 

1.11.1. Two (2) new NAMI Peer-to-Peer teachers; and 

1.11.2. Two (2) new NAMI Connection facilitators annually. 

1.12. The Contractor shall provide youth and young adult resources and information 
on social media, and at minimum one (1) website, which must include but is not 
limited to: 

1.12.1. A youth leadership interactive social networking website facilitated by 
young adults with emotional disorders, created for and by youth ages 
fourteen ( 14) through twenty-one (21) who are affected by emotional 
disorders and/or mental illness and transitioning to adulthood, which 
must include, but is not limited to: 

1.12.1.1. Providing a place where youth and young adults are: 

1.12.1.1.1. Able to support each other by sharing ideas; and 

1.12.1.1.2. Able to discuss concerns and questions about 
planning for the future. 

1.12.2. Information about opportunities available to youth and young adults to 
get involved to help create a better mental health system. ~s 
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1.13. The Contractor shall provide In Our Own Voice (/OOV) presenter training, to a 
minimum of eight (8) individuals annually. IOOV shall assist individuals with lived 
experience to gain confidence, and empower them to deliver their personal 
recovery story by: 

1.13.1. Providing the tools to write compelling personal recovery stories; 

1.13.2. Assisting participants with enhancing their public speaking skills; 

1.13.3. Providing space for individuals to practice telling their personal stories 
within a learning and safe environment; 

1.13.4. Engaging new speakers from diverse backgrounds; and 

1.13.5. Coordinating speaking engagements for trained speakers with a broad 
array of audiences. 

1.14. The Contractor shall provide Life Interrupted (LI) presenter training, to a 
minimum of four (4) new presenters annually and re-training for a minimum of 
five (5) existing presenters annually. LI family speaker training teaches public 
speaking and presentation techniques to assist family members of any age who 
have a loved one with a mental illness and/or serious emotional disorder to 
develop presentations that include: 

1.14.1. Their family recovery story; 

1.14.2. Specific facts about mental health; and 

1.14.3. Important anti-stigma messaging. 

1.15. The Contractor shall provide at least twelve ( 12) volunteer facilitated support 
groups annually by providing: 

1.15.1. A venue for group meetings; 

1.15.2. A mechanism to track participation and evaluation; 

1.15.3. Ongoing model-specific quarterly re-training/in-service opportunities, for 
a minimum of ten (10) facilitators annually in order to: 

1.15.3.1. Refresh skills; 

1.15.3.2. Share learned experiences; and 

1.15.3.3. Communicate up-to-date information on current policy topics 
and other relevant information to share with other facilitators 
and individuals attending family support programming 
statewide. 

1.15.4. Training for four ( 4) new support group leaders annually. 

Program Support and information Dissemination 

1.16. The Contractor shall provide It's Your Move Public Policy Leadership Training 
for a minimum of twenty (20) participants annually, to assist individual~s 
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1.16.1. Develop effective communication, messaging skills, and advocacy skills; 

1.16.2. Understand state government, the 10-Year Mental Health Plan, the 
Children's System of Care, and current legislation relative to mental 
health and suicide prevention; 

1.16.3. Increase their knowledge of current mental health policies; 

1.16.4. Become advocates for mental health issues, and to educate key 
stakeholders and Legislators about the importance of mental health 
issues across the lifespan; and 

1.16.5. Participate on policy committees and other opportunities in policy 
development. 

1.17. The Contractor shall promote and share information about opportunities to serve 
on state and local boards and committees that focus on mental health related 
issues with trained teachers, facilitators, and presenters statewide. 

1.18. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of eighteen hundred (1800) hours of 
technical assistance annually to education, support and leadership programs 
statewide, which must include but is not limited to: 

1.18.1. Communicating with trained leaders, volunteers, teachers, presenters, 
and advocates to support them in their leadership roles. 

1.18.2. Addressing concerns of trained leaders, teachers, and presenters in 
order to solve problems. 

1.18.3. Providing current mental health updates and resources at quarterly in­
service meetings with teachers, facilitators, leaders, and presenters. 

1.18.4. Making opportunities available for families to participate in statewide 
quality improvement initiatives. 

1.19. The Contractor shall serve as a repository for information and resources 
distributing electronic and printed materials regarding mental health, which must 
include, but is not limited to: 

1.19.1. Accepting and responding to a minimum of one thousand (1,000) phone, 
e-mail, social media messaging, and/or in-person inquiries annually. 

1.19.2. Distributing a minimum of fifteen thousand (15,000) educational 
materials annually to individuals, family members, providers, and 
organizations. Materials will include: 

1.19.2.1. Resources in both English and Spanish to individuals, family 
members, health care providers and other professionals 
including schools, public safety, health care organizations, and 
more; 

1.19.2.2. Evidence-based materials for individuals and family support 
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1.19.2.3. Resources for suicide prevention and survivors of a suicide 
loss. 

1.19.3. Maintaining a public awareness _and resource website with content that 
includes, but is not limited to: 

1.19.3.1. Accurate and current resources for mental health information; 

1.19.3.2. Current offerings and schedules for statewide family support 
programming; 

1.19.3.3. Family support group information and schedules; 

1.19.3.4. Testimony and letters that respond to current legislation, if 
applicable; 

1.19.3.5. New Hampshire's 10-Year Mental Health Plan; 

1.19.3.6. Social networking opportunities for teens and young adults; 
and 

1.19.3. 7. A complete listing of Community Mental Health Centers and 
Peer Support Agencies, inclusive of contact information. 

1.20. The Contractor shall provide information through web-based media, including 
Video, Facebook, and Twitter, that must include, but is not limited to: 

1.20.1. Publishing links to a minimum offifteen (15) educational webinars and/or 
videos relevant to: 

1.20.1.1. Family education and support; 

1.20.1.2. Suicide prevention; 

1.20.1.3. Supports to those bereaved by suicide; 

1.20.1.4. New Hampshire's 10-Year Mental Health Plan; and 

1.20.1.5. Stigma reduction. 

1.20.2. Other topics of interest to families and individuals. 

Community Education, Stigma Reduction and Public Speaking 

1.21. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of three (3) educational presentations 
for families and/or caregivers affected by mental illness and persons with mental 
illness on topics that include, but are not limited to: 

1.21.1. Advocacy and current policy updates. 

1.21.2. Mental health resources and treatments. 

1.21.3. Coping skills and stigma. 

1.21.4. Working with the Office of Consumer and Family Affairs (OCFA), within 
the New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services, Bureau 
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of Mental Health Services, , to develop presentations focused on 
persons with mental illness. 

1.22. The Contractor shall provide an annual educational conference for individuals, 
transitional age youth, families, providers and interested members of the public 
that must include: 

1.22.1. Mental health topics and issues for all age groups; 

1.22.2. Current and emerging evidence-based practices; 

1.22.3. A description of the New Hampshire mental health system and 10-Year 
Mental Health Plan; and 

1.22.4. Key stakeholders and family members on the Conference Planning 
Committee during the planning stages. 

1.23. The Contractor shall provide educational services and activities for the general 
public, including, but not limited to: 

1.23.1. A minimum of twelve (12) anti-stigma messages and responses in 
response to public statements that are prejudicial and discriminatory via 
use of newspaper, radio, television and social media sources. The 
Contractor shall develop a plan that includes, but is not limited to: 

1.23.1.1. Community awareness events. 

1.23.1.2. Observance of Mental Illness Awareness Week. 

1.23.1.3. Collaborating with agencies, schools, community mental 
health centers, community providers, and New Hampshire 
Hospital to provide activities and events. 

1.23.1.4. Web-based tools in order to promote positive images 
associated with mental illness including easily accessible 
information or links to information about safe messaging. 

1.23.2. A minimum of thirty (30) In Our Own Voice (/OOV) Presentations of 
personal stories, to help reduce the stigma of mental illness, for a 
minimum of eight hundred (800) individuals from targeted audiences 
that include, but are not limited to: 

1.23.2.1. Mental health and substance use disorder peer support 
centers. 

1.23.2.2. Mental health and healthcare providers. 

1.23.2.3. Colleges. 

1.23.2.4. Law enforcement. 

1.23.2.5. Department military/civilian committees. 

1.23.2.6. Educators/schools. 
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1.23.2.7. Other vendors and collaborators, as appropriate. 

1.23.3. A minimum of ten (10) Life Interrupted' (LI) Presentations, for a minimum 
of one hundred and fifty (150) family members of any age who have a 
loved one with a mental illness and/or serious emotional disorder gain 
confidence through instruction on public speaking and presentation 
techniques in order to develop presentations that include: 

1.23.3.1. Speaking about their own experiences. 

1.23.3.2. Address mental health stigma. 

1.23.3.3. Educate communities about mental illness recovery. 

1.23.3.4. How mental illness impacts family members. 

1.23.3.5. Resources available to family members. 

1.23.4. A minimum of ten (10) presentations for a minimum of two hundred and 
fifty (250) individuals of the general public annually on a variety of topics 
related to promoting awareness about treatment and recovery of serious 
mental illness (SMI) and serious emotional disorders (SEO), including: 

1.23.4.1. Displaying and disseminating information about mental illness 
at conferences, health fairs and other events that are designed 
for specific, targeted audiences; 

1.23.4.2. Ensuring staff members have completed Diversity and Cultural 
Competence training as approved by the Department; and 

1.23.4.3. Ensuring stigma reduction messaging is a component of all 
public presentations. 

Suicide Prevention 

1.24. The Contractor shall provide information regarding suicide, risk factors, 
protective factors and warning signs to individuals, family members, service 
providers, and the general public to increase their ability to recognize at-risk 
individuals and connect them to qualified health professionals through the 
Contractor's NAMI NH website, social media, presentations, and the Information 
and Resource line. 

1.25. The Contractor shall assemble and distribute a minimum of three hundred (300) 
resource packets for next of kin, with approval from the Department, that must 
include: 

1.25.1. Information and best practices for managing grief from a suicide loss; 

1.25.2. Warning signs of suicidal feelings; 

1.25.3. Methods for reducing risk of suicide, stigma, and isolation; 

1.25.4. Tools to increase help-seeking behavior; and 
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1.25.5. Resources and connections to Survivors of Suicide Loss support and 
education programs. 

1.26. The Contractor shall provide suicide prevention and intervention training 
through: 

1.26.1. Annually, a minimum of four ( 4) education and awareness events that 
target individuals with SMI/SED and their family members, in order to 
increase awareness of suicide as a public health issue through 
collaboration with public and private organizations, coalitions, state 
bureaus, individuals with lived experience, family organizations, and 
community mental health centers. Events must be designed to transfer 
knowledge regarding: 

1.26.1.1. Suicide; 

1.26.1.2. Risk factors; 

1.26.1.3. Protective factors and warning signs; 

1.26.1.4. The ability to recognize at-risk individuals; 

1.26.1.5. Connecting at-risk individuals to qualified health professionals; 
and 

1.26.1.6. At least one (1) of these events must be delivered during 
National Suicide Prevention Month in September. 

1.26.2. A minimum of two (2) training opportunities for key service providers, 
annually, which must include but is not limited to: 

1.26.3. 

1.26.2.1. Best Practice protocols that address how key service providers 
should respond to a suicide incident. 

1.26.2.2. Integrating provider-specific roles with other providers to 
ensure gaps are closed resulting in a coordinated community 
response. 

1.26.2.3. Promoting early recognition of mental illness, substance abuse 
disorder, and warning signs for suicide. 

1.26.2.4. Reducing stigmatizing attitudes. 

1.26.2.5. Promoting help seeking. 

1.26.2.6. Improving relationships between key service providers and the 
service delivery system. 

The Contractor shall provide a minimum of thirty (30) hours annually of 
technical assistance and conference calls to support volunteer suicide 
intervention and prevention trainers who train in their local regions to 
support the volunteer pool of trainers and ensure they have updated 
training information. 
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1.27. The Contractor shall provide annually a minimum of one (1) Connect 
Postvention training, for up to thirty (30) individuals, which must include, is not 
limited to: 

1.27.1. Best practice protocols for key services providers in order to: 

1.27.1.1. Reduce the risk of contagion. 

1.27.1.2. Provide information about warning signs for suicide in order to 
increase help seeking behavior and sensitivity. 

1.27 .1.3. Increase the cultural responsiveness of service providers to 
those bereaved by suicide. 

1.27.1.4. Provide current science-based information/best practices on: 

1.27.1.4.1. Grief; 

1.27.1.4.2. Suicide loss; 

1.27.1.4.3. Resources; and 

1.27.1 .4.4. Connection to survivors of suicide loss network. 

1.28. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of fifty (50) hours annually responding 
to suicide incidents by providing consultation and technical assistance to guide 
key service providers and community members in the use of best practice 
protocols implemented after a suicide death in order to promote healing. 

1.29. The Contractor shall provide a minimum of twenty (20) hours of support and 
technical assistance to the Survivors of Suicide Loss Networks (SOSL) that 
include, but are not limited to: 

1.29.1. Support, helpful resources and connection to other families who have 
lost a family member to suicide. 

1.29.2. Support and technical assistance to Survivor of Suicide Loss Support 
Group facilitators, including assistance with screening individuals who 
are interested in attending groups and maintaining appropriate meeting 
locations. 

1.29.3. Support a minimum of six (6) Survivors of Suicide Loss Support Groups 
(SOLS) annually. 

1.29.4. Provide a Survivor Newsletter that is distributed electronically statewide, 
to a minimum of five thousand (5,000) individuals, in order to educate 
service providers, the public, and those affected by suicide regarding: 

1.29.4.1. The impact of suicide on families and communities. 

1.29.4.2. Available resources and supports. 

1.29.4.3. Reducing the feelings of isolation and shame. 
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1.29.5. Coordination of, a minimum of six (6) Survivor Voices presentations 
annually, for up to thirty (30) in-person participants, or up to seventy (70) 
virtual participants, with the Suicide Loss Survivor Speakers' Bureau, 
that provides technical assistance, statewide, to trained speakers, 
including but not limited to: 

1.29.5.1. Locating presentation sites. 

1.29.5.2. Distribution of audience materials, including a program 
evaluation. 

1.29.6. Survivor Voices speakers re-training, for up to ten (10) speakers 
annually, by providing updates on current research trends in suicide 
prevention and safe communication, while providing opportunities to 
process challenges and stigmas encountered as well as methods to 
address those challenges and stigmas. 

1.29.7. A minimum of fifty (50) hours, annually, of Individual Survivor Support 
that: 

1.29.7.1. Provides individual support to survivors of suicide loss in order 
to connect them with support groups and other survivor 
resources. 

1.29.7.2. Assists survivors in organizing and coordinating mutual 
support and activities that promote awareness about mental 
illness, suicide prevention, reducing the risk and stigma, as 
well as promote healing and help seeking for participants. 

1.29.7.3. Provides trained speakers who have survived an attempted 
suicide. 

1.30. The Contractor shall participate on the New Hampshire Suicide Prevention 
Council as a member organization. The Contractor will serve as the fiscal agent 
for $100,000 of designated state general funds to support implementation of the 
goals of the suicide prevention council's strategic plan. The Contractor shall 
work with the Suicide Prevention Council's leadership committee to: 

1.30.1. Prioritize spending recommendations; 

1.30.2. Vote on an annual budget and spending plan; 

1.30.3. Bring a proposal forward to the Department for approval; and 

1.30.4. Submit requests to the Department to carry over funds from one fiscal 
year to the next, as necessary. 

Administrative Requirements 

1.31. The Contractor shall accept the Department's approved consultation, technical 
assistance, training, and support as identified and specified by the Department 
resulting from audit recommendations to fulfill all requirementsr,ts this 
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Agreement. 

1.32. The Contractor shall maintain a Board of Directors, which must have a minimum 
of nine (9) voting members with experience in the mental health system, and: 

1.32.1. The Board of Directors will consist of individuals whom self-identify as 
having mental health lived experience; or 

1.32.2. Identify as family members of individuals with severe mental illness, 
severe and persistent mental illness, early serious mental illness, first 
episode psychosis and/or severe emotional disturbance. 

1.33. The Contractor shall maintain records of Board of Director membership for 
purposes of validation of annual board elections and to support efficient and 
regular communications with membership regarding Contractor activities. The 
Contractor shall: 

1.33.1. Ensure the records are provided to the Department upon request. 

1.33.2. Maintain minutes of Board meetings that include, but are not limited to: 

1.33.2.1. Topics discussed. 

1.33.2.2. Action steps and votes. 

1.33.2.3. The monthly review of the agency financial status. 

1.33.3. Have a documented orientation process and manual for Directors of the 
Board, which must be provided to the Department upon request. 

1.33.4. Provide annual training related to the roles and responsibilities of the 
Board of Directors, to include fiduciary responsibilities. 

1.34. The Contractor shall maintain an accounting manual specific to the organization 
which includes, but is not limited to: 

1.34.1. Cash management to include cash receipts, cash disbursements, and 
petty cash. 

1.34.2. Accounts Payable and Accounts Receivable Procedures. 

1.34.3. Payroll and fixed assets. 

1.34.4. Internal Control Procedures. 

1.34.5. Expense reimbursement and Advance Policy. 

1.35. Prior to making an offer of employment or for volunteer work, the Contractor 
shall, after obtaining signed and notarized authorization from the person or 
persons for whom information is being sought: 

1.35.1. Obtain and verify at least two (2) references for the person; 
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1.35.2. Submit the person's name for review against the bureau of elderly and 
adult services (BEAS) state registry maintained pursuant to RSA 161-
F:49; 

1.35.3. Complete a criminal records check to ensure that the person has no 
history of: 

1.35.3.1. Felony conviction; or 

1.35.3.2. Any misdemeanor conviction involving: 

1.35.3.3. Physical or sexual assault; 

1.35.3.4. Violence; 

1.35.3.5. Exploitation; 

1.35.3.6. Child pornography; 

1.35.3.7. Threatening or reckless conduct; 

1.35.3.8. Theft; 

1.35.3.9. Driving under the influence of drugs or alcohol; or 

1.35.3.1 O.Any other conduct that represents evidence of behavior that 
could endanger the well-being of a consumer; and 

1.36. Unless approved by the Department, the Contractor shall not hire any individual, 
or approve any individual to act as a volunteer, if: 

1.36.1. The individual's name is on the BEAS state registry; 

1.36.2. The individual has a record of a felony conviction; or 

1.36.3. The individual has a record of any misdemeanors specified in Paragraph 
1.35.3. 

2. Exhibits Incorporated 

2.1. The Contractor shall use and disclose Protected Health Information in 
compliance with the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health 
Information (Privacy Rule) (45 CFR Parts 160 and 164) under the Health 
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) of 1996, and in accordance 
with the attached Exhibit I, Business Associate Agreement, which has been 
executed by the parties. 

2.2. The Contractor shall manage all confidential data related to this Agreement in 
accordance with the terms of Exhibit K, DHHS Information Security 
Requirements. 

2.3. The Contractor shall comply with all Exhibits D through K, which are attached 
hereto and incorporated by reference herein. 

3. Reporting Requirements 

RFP-2022-DBH-01-FAMIL-01 

B-1.0 

NAMI New Hampshire 

Page 13 of 17 

11:s, 
Contractor Initial~ 

D 
6/8/2021 

ate __ _ 



DocuSign Envelope ID: F9D0137D-B41 C-451A-A513-8B5ACE5B93FD 

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services 
Family Mutual Support Services 

EXHIBIT B 

3.1. The Contractor shall submit quarterly financial and statistical reports within thirty 
(30) days after the end of each quarter. 

3.1.1. Quarterly financial reports must include: 

3.1.1.1. A Corporate Balance Sheet. 

3.1.1.2. An Income Statement using the accrual method of accounting. 

3.1.1.3. A Budget-to-Actual Revenue and Expense report (Form A) 
using the cash method of accounting. 

3.1.1.4. Total revenue and expenditures, including funds from all 
sources. 

3.1.2. Quarterly statistical reports must include: 

3.1.2.1. Data statistical reports based on criteria approved by the 
Department. 

3.2. The Contractor shall provide the Department with a monthly programming 
calendar of scheduled events, trainings and programming for the upcoming 
month by the end of the prior month. 

3.3. The Contractor shall provide the Department with a monthly programming report 
that includes, but is not limited to: 

3.3.1. A description for each training session provided for the previous month. 

3.3.2. The total number of training sessions provided during the previous 
month. 

3.3.3. The number of individuals who participated in each training session. 

3.3.4. Individual and collective results of pre and post tests for each type of 
training. 

3.3.5. The number of contacts made with stakeholders and the general public 
in providing mental health support and resources and public speaking 
engagements. 

3.3.6. The number of web-based/electronic postings and resources 
disseminated in the month. 

3.3.7. The number of technical assistance hours spent with education, support, 
and leadership programs. 

3.3.8. A list of suicide prevention activities completed and numbers reached, 
with the suicide prevention council activities clearly identified. 

3.4. The Contractor shall conduct pre- and post-tests for trainings, and report results 
based on criteria approved by the Department, to determine effectiveness of 
services in participant skills, knowledge and confidence. The Contractor shall: 
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services 
Family Mutual Support Services 

EXHIBIT B 

3.4.1. Conduct pre- and post-tests for training sessions longer than three (3) 
hours. 

3.4.2. Conduct post surveys for training sessions/presentations less than three 
(3) hours 

3.4.3. Conduct semi-annual follow-up survey with individuals who contact the 
Contractor's NAMI Information and Resource program. 

4. Performance Measures 

4.1. The Department will monitor performance of the Contractor by reviewing 
monthly reports as described in Subsection 3.3. 

4.2. The Contractor shall actively and regularly collaborate with the Department to 
enhance contract management, improve results, and adjust program delivery 
and policy based on successful outcomes. 

4.3. The Contractor may be required to provide other key data and metrics to the 
Department, including client-level demographic, performance, and service data. 

4.4. Where applicable, the Contractor shall collect and share data with the 
Department in a format specified by the Department. 

5. Additional Terms 

5.1. Impacts Resulting from Court Orders or Legislative Changes 

5.1.1. The Contractor agrees that, to the extent future state or federal 
legislation or court orders may have an impact on the Services described 
herein, the State has the right to modify Service priorities and 
expenditure requirements under this Agreement so as to achieve 
compliance therewith. 

5.2. Federal Civil Rights Laws Compliance: Culturally and Linguistically Appropriate 
Programs and Services 

5.2.1. The Contractor shall submit, within ten (10) days of the Agreement 
Effective Date, a detailed description of the communication access and 
language assistance services to be provided to ensure meaningful 
access to programs and/or services to individuals with limited English 
proficiency; individuals who are deaf or have hearing loss; individuals 
who are blind or have low vision; and individuals who have speech 
challenges. 

5.3. Credits and Copyright Ownership 

5.3.1. All documents, notices, press releases, research reports and other 
materials prepared during or resulting from the performance of the 
services of the Agreement shall include the following statement, "The 
preparation of this (report, document etc.) was financed under an 
Contract with the State of New Hampshire, Department of H~ and 

RFP-2022-DBH-01-FAMIL-01 NAMI New Hampshire Contractor Initial~ 
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services 
Family Mutual Support Services 

EXHIBIT B 

Human Services, with funds provided in part by the State of New 
Hampshire and/or such other funding sources as were available or 
required, e.g., the United States Department of Health and Human 
Services." 

5.3.2. All materials produced or purchased under the Agreement shall have 
prior approval from the Department before printing, production, 
distribution or use. 

5.3.3. The Department shall retain copyright ownership for any and all original 
materials produced, including, but not limited to: 

5.3.3.1. Brochures. 

5.3.3.2. Resource directories. 

5.3.3.3. Protocols or guidelines. 

5.3.3.4. Posters. 

5.3.3.5. Reports. 

5.3.4. The Contractor shall not reproduce any materials produced under the 
Agreement without prior written approval from the Department. 

6. Records 

6.1. The Contractor shall keep records that include, but are not limited to: 

6.2. 

6.1.1. Books, records, documents and other electronic or physical data 
evidencing and reflecting all costs and other expenses incurred by the 
Contractor in the performance of the Contract, and all income received 
or collected by the Contractor. 

6.1.2. All records must be maintained in accordance with accounting 
procedures and practices, which sufficiently and properly reflect all such 
costs and expenses, and which are acceptable to the Department, and 
to include, without limitation, all ledgers, books, records, and original 
evidence of costs such as purchase requisitions and orders, vouchers, 
requisitions for materials, inventories, valuations of in-kind contributions, 
labor time cards, payrolls, and other records requested or required by 
the Department. 

During the term of this Agreement and the period for retention hereunder, the 
Department, the United States Department of Health and Human Services, and 
any of their designated representatives shall have access to all reports and 
records maintained pursuant to the Agreement for purposes of audit, 
examination, excerpts and transcripts. Upon the purchase by the Department of 
the maximum number of units provided for in the Agreement and upon payment 
of the price limitation hereunder, the Agreement and all the obligations of the 
parties hereunder (except such obligations as, by the terms of the Agreement 

11:s, 
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are to be performed after the end of the term of this Agreement and/or survive 
the termination of the Agreement) shall terminate, provided however, that if, 
upon review of the Final Expenditure Report the Department shall disallow any 
expenses claimed by the Contractor as costs hereunder the Department shall 
retain the right, at its discretion, to deduct the amount of such expenses as are 
disallowed or to recover such sums from the Contractor. 
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EXHIBIT C 

Payment Terms 

1. This Agreement is funded by 100% General funds. 

2. Payment shall be on a cost reimbursement basis for actual expenditures 
incurred in the fulfillment of this Agreement, and shall be in accordance with 
the approved line item, as specified in Exhibits C-1, Budget through Exhibit C-
2, Budget. 

3. The Contractor shall submit an invoice in a form satisfactory to the Department 
by the fifteenth (15th) working day of the following month, which identifies and 
requests reimbursement for authorized expenses incurred in the prior month. 
The Contractor shall ensure the invoice is completed, dated and returned to the 
Department in order to initiate payment. 

4. In lieu of hard copies, all invoices may be assigned an electronic signature and 
emailed to dhhs.dbhinvoicesmhs@dhhs.nh.gov, or invoices may be mailed to: 

Financial Manager 
Department of Health and Human Services 
129 Pleasant Street 
Concord, NH 03301 

5. The Department shall make payment to the Contractor within thirty (30) days 
of receipt of each invoice, subsequent to approval of the submitted invoice and 
if sufficient funds are available, subject to Paragraph 4 of the General 
Provisions Form Number P-37 of this Agreement. 

6. The final invoice shall be due to the Department no later than forty (40) days 
after the contract completion date specified in Form P-37, General Provisions 
Block 1.7 Completion Date. 

7. The Contractor must provide the services in Exhibit B, Scope of Services, in 
compliance with funding requirements. 

8. The Contractor agrees that funding under this Agreement may be withheld, in 
whole or in part in the event of non-compliance with the terms and conditions 
of Exhibit B, Scope of Services. 

9. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Contractor agrees that 
funding under this agreement may be withheld, in whole or in part, in the event 
of non-compliance with any Federal or State law, rule or regulation applicable 
to the services provided, or if the said services or products have not been 
satisfactorily completed in accordance with the terms and conditions of this 
agreement. 

10. Notwithstanding Paragraph 17 of the General Provisions Form P-37, changes 
limited to adjusting amounts within the price limitation and adjusting 
encumbrances between State Fiscal Years and budget class lines through the 
Budget Office may be made by written agreement of both parties, without 

11:s, 
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obtaining approval of the Governor and Executive Council, if needed and 
justified. 

11. Audits 

11.1. The Contractor must email an annual audit to 
melissa.s.morin@dhhs.nh.gov if any of the following conditions exist: 

11.1.1. Condition A - The Contractor expended $750,000 or more in 
federal funds received as a subrecipient pursuant to 2 CFR Part 
200, during the most recently completed fiscal year. 

11.1.2. Condition B - The Contractor is subject to audit pursuant to the 
requirements of NH RSA 7:28, III-b, pertaining to charitable 
organizations receiving support of $1,000,000 or more. 

11.1.3. Condition C - The Contractor is a public company and required 
by Security and Exchange Commission (SEC) regulations to 
submit an annual financial audit. 

11.2. If Condition A exists, the Contractor shall submit an annual single audit 
performed by an independent Certified Public Accountant (CPA) to the 
Department within 120 days after the close of the Contractor's fiscal 
year, conducted in accordance with the requirements of 2 CFR Part 
200, Subpart F of the Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal awards. 

11.3. If Condition B or Condition C exists, the Contractor shall submit an 
annual financial audit performed by an independent CPA within 120 
days after the close of the Contractor's fiscal year. 

11.4. In addition to, and not in any way in limitation of obligations of the 
Contract, it is understood and agreed by the Contractor that the 
Contractor shall be held liable for any state or federal audit exceptions 
and shall return to the Department all payments made under the 
Contract to which exception has been taken, or which have been 
disallowed because of such an exception. 
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Bidder/Program Name: NAM! New Hampshire 

Budget Request for: Family Mutual Support Services 

Budget Period: SFY 2022 

Total Program Cost 
Line Item Direct Indirect 
1. Total SalarytWaqes $ 326,564 s 75,110 
2. Employee Benefits s 69,537 $ 
3. Consultants s s 
4. Equipment· s s 

Rental s s 
Reoa1r and Maintenance $ s 
Pu re ha se/Deorec I at 10 n s $ 

5. Supplies s $ 
Educational s 16,730 s 
Lab $ s 
Pharniacv s $ 
Medical $ s 
Office s $ 

6. Travel $ 734 s 
7 Occuoancv $ $ 
8. Current Expenses s s 

Telephone $ 6,373 s 
Postaae s 250 s 
Subscr1ot1ons s s 
Audit and Leaal s s 
Insurance s s 
Board Expenses $ s 

9, Software $ s 
10. Mark.etmoiCommunicat1ons s $ 
11. Staff Education and Tram1na s s 
12. Subcontracts/Aqreernents $ 2,340 $ 
13. Other (-,,i,-~•.11,c li<·.ta1b, ri1.·1!·1,L1:01y) $ $ 
Fiscal Aaent Su1c1de Prevention Council s 100,000 s 

$ s 
$ s 

TOTAL $ 522,528 $ 75,110 

Indirect As A Percent of Direct 14.4% 

Exhibit C-1 
Budget Form 

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services 

Contractor Share I Match 
Total Direct Indirect 

s 401,674 $ s 
s 69,537 $ $ 
s $ $ 
$ $ $ 
$ s $ 
$ s $ 

$ $ $ 
s $ $ 
$ 16,730 $ $ 
$ s $ 
$ 5 $ 
s s s 
s s s 
$ 734 s $ 
s $ $ 
s s $ 
$ 6,373 · S $ 
s 250 $ $ 
$ s s 
s s s 
$ s s 
$ s $ 

s $ $ 
s $ $ 
s s $ 

$ 2,340 s $ 
$ $ s 
$ 100,000 $ $ 

s $ $ 
s $ $ 

$ 597,637 $ $ 

Indirect Methodology-Federal Negoitated Rate of 23% of direct wages, no fringe. Cost Agreeement attached 

NAM! New Hampshire 
RFP-2022-DBH-01-FAMIL 
Exhibit C-1 
Page 1 of 1 

Funded by OHHS contract share 
Total Direct Indirect Total 

$ $ 326,564 $ 75,110 $ 401,674 

$ $ 69,537 $ $ 69,537 

$ s $ 
$ s $ 
$ $ $ 

$ $ $ 
$ $ $ 
$ s $ 
$ s 16,730 $ $ 16,730 

$ $ $ $ 
s $ $ $ 
$ $ $ $ 

$ s s s 
$ $ 734 s $ 734 

$ s $ 

s $ $ 
$ s 6,373 $ $ 6,373 

s $ 250 $ $ 250 
$ s s 
$ s s $ 

$ s $ $ 

s s $ $ 
$ $ s s 
s $ s $ 
$ s $ s 
$ s 2,340 s s 2,340 

$ s $ 

$ $ 100,000 s $ 100,000 

$ $ s $ 
s $ $ $ 

$ $ 522,528 $ 75,110 $ 597,637 
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Bidder/Program Name: NAMI New Hampshire 

Budget Request for: Family Mutual Support Services 
(Name of RFP) 

Budget Period: SFY 2023 

Total Program Cost 
Line Item Direct Indirect 
1. Total Salarv/Waaes s 326,564 s 75,110 
2. Employee Benefits s 69,537 $ 
3. Consultants $ s 
4. Eauioment· $ $ 

Rental s $ 
Repair and Maintenance $ $ 
Purchase/Deprec1at 10n $ $ 

5. Suool1es. s s 
Educational s 16,730 s 
Lab s $ 
Pharmacy s s 
Medical s s 
Office s s 

6. Travel s 734 s 
7. Occupancy s s 
8. Current Expenses s s 

Teleohone $ 6,373 $ 
Postaqe s 250 s 
Subscriptions s s 
Audit and Legal $ s 
Insurance s s 
Board Exoenses s s 

9. Software s s 
10. Mark.etinq/Communicat1ons s $ 
11. Staff Education and Training s s 
12. Subcontracts/Aoreements s 2,340 s 
13. Other (-:,u·-,-,11,c 11<·:l,ii:, r>i.,1!·1,L,1:ciy) $ s 
Fiscal Aqent Su1c1de Prevention Council s 100,000 s 

$ s 
s s 

TOTAL $ 522,528 $ 75,110 

Indirect As A Percent of Direct 14.4% 

Exhibit C-2 
Budget 

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services 

Contractor Share- I Match 
Total Direct Indirect 

$ 401,674 $ $ 
$ 69,537 $ $ 

$ s $ 
s $ $ 
$ $ $ 
$ s $ 
$ $ $ 
s $ $ 
$ 16,730 s $ 
$ $ $ 
s $ s 
s $ $ 

s s $ 
$ 734 $ s 
s s $ 
s $ $ 

$ 6,373 $ s 
s 250 s s 
$ s $ 
$ $ s 
$ $ s 
s s $ 
s s $ 
s $ s 
s s $ 
$ 2.340 s $ 

s s $ 
$ 100,000 s s 
s s $ 
s s $ 
$ 597,637 $ $ 

Indirect Methodology-Federal Negoitated Rate of 23% of direct wages, no fringe. Cost Agreeement attached 

NAMI New Hampshire 
RFP-2022-DBH-01-FAMIL 
Exh1b1t C-2 
Page 1 of 1 

Funded by OHHS contract ottare 
Total Direct Indirect Total 

$ $ 326,564 $ 75,110 $ 401,674 
$ $ 69,537 $ $ 69,537 

$ $ $ 
$ $ $ 
s $ s 
$ s $ 
$ s $ 
$ s $ 
$ s 16,730 s $ 16.730 
$ s $ $ 

s $ s $ 
$ $ s $ 
$ s $ $ 
s $ 734 s $ 734 

s s $ 
$ s $ 
$ $ 6,373 s s 6,373 

s $ 250 $ $ 250 

s $ $ 
$ $ $ $ 
s s $ $ 
$ $ $ s 
$ $ s $ 
s $ s s 
$ s $ $ 
$ $ 2,340 s s 2,340 

s s $ 
$ s 100.000 s $ 100.000 
$ $ s s 
s $ s $ 

$ $ 522,528 $ 75,110 $ 597,637 
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services 
Exhibit D 

CERTIFICATION REGARDING DRUG-FREE WORKPLACE REQUIREMENTS 

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of 
Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690, Title V, Subtitle D; 41 
U.S.C. 701 et seq.), and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections 
1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following Certification: 

ALTERNATIVE 1- FOR GRANTEES OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS 

US DEPARTMENT OF HEAL TH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS 
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - CONTRACTORS 
US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - CONTRACTORS 

This certification is required by the regulations implementing Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free 
Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690, Title V, Subtitle D; 41 U.S.C. 701 et seq.). The January 31, 
1989 regulations were amended and published as Part II of the May 25, 1990 Federal Register (pages 
21681-21691 ), and require certification by grantees (and by inference, sub-grantees and sub­
contractors), prior to award, that they will maintain a drug-free workplace. Section 3017.630(c) of the 
regulation provides that a grantee (and by inference, sub-grantees and sub-contractors) that is a State 
may elect to make one certification to the Department in each federal fiscal year in lieu of certificates for 
each grant during the federal fiscal year covered by the certification. The certificate set out below is a 
material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the agency awards the grant. False 
certification or violation of the certification shall be grounds for suspension of payments, suspension or 
termination of grants, or government wide suspension or debarment. Contractors using this form should 
send it to: 

Commissioner 
NH Department of Health and Human Services 
129 Pleasant Street, 
Concord. NH 03301-6505 

1. The grantee certifies that it will or will continue to provide a drug-free workplace by: 
1.1. Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution, 

dispensing. possession or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in the grantee's 
workplace and specifying the actions that will be taken against employees for violation of such 
prohibition; 

1.2. Establishing an ongoing drug-free awareness program to inform employees about 
1.2.1. The dangers of drug abuse in the workplace: 
1.2.2. The grantee's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace; 
1.2.3. Any available drug counseling, rehabilitation, and employee assistance programs: and 
1.2.4. The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug abuse violations 

occurring in the workplace: 
1.3. Making it a requirement that each employee to be engaged in the performance of the grant be 

given a copy of the statement required by paragraph (a); 
1 .4. Notifying the employee in the statement required by paragraph (a) that, as a condition of 

employment under the grant, the employee will 
1 .4.1. Abide by the terms of the statement: and 
1.4.2. Notify the employer in writing of his or her conviction for a violation of a criminal drug 

statute occurring in the workplace no later than five calendar days after such 
conviction; 

1.5. Notifying the agency in writing, within ten calendar days after receiving notice under 
subparagraph 1.4.2 from an employee or otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction. 
Employers of convicted employees must provide notice, including position title, to every grant 
officer on whose grant act;v;ty the convicted employee was work;ng, unless the Fe~gency 

Exh1b1t D - Cert1ficat1on regarding Drug Free Vendor l111t1als k.fJ 
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services 
Exhibit D 

has designated a central point for the receipt of such notices. Notice shall include the 
identification number(s) of each affected grant: 

1.6. Taking one of the following actions. within 30 calendar days of receiving notice under 
subparagraph 1.4.2. with respect to any employee who is so convicted 
1.6.1. Taking appropriate personnel action against such an employee. up to and including 

termination, consistent with the requirements of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as 
amended; or 

1.6.2. Requiring such employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or 
rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by a Federal, State, or local health, 
law enforcement, or other appropriate agency; 

1.7. Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through 
implementation of paragraphs 1.1. 1.2, 1.3. 1.4, 1.5. and 1.6. 

2. The grantee may insert in the space provided below the site(s) for the performance of work done in 
connection with the specific grant. 

Place of Performance (street address .. city, county, state, zip code) (list each location) 

Check □ if there are workplaces on file that are not identified here. 

6/8/2021 

Date 

CU/DHHS/110713 

Vendor Name: 

[~'/vovt•"-, UCS()J 
Name~K~m;rg-n, Norton' LICSW 

Title: Executive Di rector 

Exhibit D - Certification regarding Drug Free 
Workplace Requirements 

Page 2 of 2 

~ Vendor Initials ___ _ 

6/8/2021 
Date ___ _ 



DocuSign Envelope ID: F9D0137D-B41 C-451A-A513-8B5ACE5B93FD 

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services 
Exhibit E 

CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING 

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of 
Section 319 of Public Law 101-121, Government wide Guidance for New Restrictions on Lobbying, and 
31 U.S.C. 1352, and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections 1.11 
and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following Certification 

US DEPARTMENT OF HEAL TH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS 
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - CONTRACTORS 
US DEPARTMENT OF AG RIC UL TURE - CONTRACTORS 

Programs (indicate applicable program covered) 
*Temporary Assistance to Needy Families under Title IV-A 
*Child Support Enforcement Program under Title IV-D 
*Social Services Block Grant Program under Title XX 
*Medicaid Program under Title XIX 
*Community Services Block Grant under Title VI 
*Child Care Development Block Grant under Title IV 

The undersigned certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that: 

1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid by or on behalf of the undersigned, to 
any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member 
of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in 
connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, continuation, renewal, amendment, or 
modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention 
sub-grantee or sub-contractor). 

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for 
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, 
an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this 
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention sub-grantee or sub­
contractor), the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form LLL, (Disclosure Form to 
Report Lobbying, in accordance with its instructions. attached and identified as Standard Exhibit E-1.) 

3. The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award 
document for sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and contracts under grants, 
loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all sub-recipients shall certify and disclose accordingly. 

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction 
was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this 
transaction imposed by Section 1352, Title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required 
certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for 
each such failure. 

6/8/2021 

Date 

CU!DHHS/110713 

Vendor Name: 

Title: 
Executive Director 
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services 
Exhibit F 

CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION 
AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS 

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of 
Executive Office of the President, Executive Order 12549 and 45 CFR Part 76 regarding Debarment, 
Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters, and further agrees to have the Contractor's 
representative, as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following 
Certification: 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR CERTIFICATION 
1. By signing and submitting this proposal (contract), the prospective primary participant is providing the 

certification set out below. 

2. The inability of a person to provide the certification required below will not necessarily result in denial 
of participation in this covered transaction. If necessary, the prospective participant shall submit an 
explanation of why it cannot provide the certification. The certification or explanation will be 
considered in connection with the NH Department of Health and Human Services' (DHHS) 
determination whether to enter into this transaction. However, failure of the prospective primary 
participant to furnish a certification or an explanation shall disqualify such person from participation in 
this transaction. 

3. The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed 
when DHHS determined to enter into this transaction. If it is later determined that the prospective 
primary participant knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, in addition to other remedies 
available to the Federal Government, DHHS may terminate this transaction for cause or default. 

4. The prospective primary participant shall provide immediate written notice to the DHHS agency to 
whom this proposal (contract) is submitted if at any time the prospective primary participant learns 
that its certification was erroneous when submitted or has become erroneous by reason of changed 
circumstances. 

5. The terms ·'covered transaction," "debarred," "suspended," "ineligible," "lower tier covered 
transaction," "participant," "person," "primary covered transaction," "principal," "proposal," and 
"voluntarily excluded," as used in this clause, have the meanings set out in the Definitions and 
Coverage sections of the rules implementing Executive Order 12549: 45 CFR Part 76. See the 
attached definitions. 

6. The prospective primary participant agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that, should the 
proposed covered transaction be entered into, it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered 
transaction with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded 
from participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized by DHHS. 

7. The prospective primary participant further agrees by submitting this proposal that it will include the 
clause titled "Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion -
Lower Tier Covered Transactions," provided by DHHS, without modification, in all lower tier covered 
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions. 

8. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective participant in a 
lower tier covered transaction that it is not debarred, suspended, ineligible, or involuntarily excluded 
from the covered transaction, unless it knows that the certification is erroneous. A participant may 
decide the method and frequency by which it determines the eligibility of its principals. Each 
participant may, but is not required to, check the Nonprocurement List (of excluded parties). 

9. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of records 
in order to render in good faith the certification required by this clause. The knowledge and~ 
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information of a participant is not required to exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent 
person in the ordinary course of business dealings. 

10. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 6 of these instructions, if a participant in a 
covered transaction knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is 
suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction, in 
addition to other remedies available to the Federal government, DHHS may terminate this transaction 
for cause or default. 

PRIMARY COVERED TRANSACTIONS 
11. The prospective primary participant certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it and its 

principals: 
11.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or 

voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency; 
11.2. have not within a three-year period preceding this proposal (contract) been convicted of or had 

a civil judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in 
connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal, State or local) 
transaction or a contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal or State antitrust 
statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of 
records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property; 

11.3. are not presently indicted for otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity 
(Federal, State or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (l)(b) 
of this certification; and 

11.4. have not within a three-year period preceding this application/proposal had one or more public 
transactions (Federal, State or local) terminated for cause or default. 

12. Where the prospective primary participant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this 
certification, such prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract). 

LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS 
13. By signing and submitting this lower tier proposal (contract), the prospective lower tier participant, as 

defined in 45 CFR Part 76, certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief that it and its principals: 
13.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or 

voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction by any federal department or agency. 
13.2. where the prospective lower tier participant is unable to certify to any of the above, such 

prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract). 

14. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that it will 
include this clause entitled "Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility, and 
Voluntary Exclusion - Lower Tier Covered Transactions," without modification in all lower tier covered 
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions. 

6/8/2021 

Date 

CU/OHHS/110713 
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CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS PERTAINING TO 
FEDERAL NONDISCRIMINATION, EQUAL TREATMENT OF FAITH-BASED ORGANIZATIONS AND 

WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTIONS 

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's 
representative as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following 
certification: 

Contractor will comply, and will require any subgrantees or subcontractors to comply, with any applicable 
federal nondiscrimination requirements, which may include: 

- the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. Section 3789d) which prohibits 
recipients of federal funding under this statute from discriminating, either in employment practices or in 
the delivery of services or benefits, on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act 
requires certain recipients to produce an Equal Employment Opportunity Plan; 

- the Juvenile Justice Delinquency Prevention Act of 2002 (42 U.S.C. Section 5672(b)) which adopts by 
reference, the civil rights obligations of the Safe Streets Act. Recipients of federal funding under this 
statute are prohibited from discriminating, either in employment practices or in the delivery of services or 
benefits, on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act includes Equal 
Employment Opportunity Plan requirements; 

- the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. Section 2000d, which prohibits recipients of federal financial 
assistance from discriminating on the basis of race, color, or national origin in any program or activity); 

- the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. Section 794 ), which prohibits recipients of Federal financial 
assistance from discriminating on the basis of disability, in regard to employment and the delivery of 
services or benefits, in any program or activity; 

- the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sections 12131-34), which prohibits 
discrimination and ensures equal opportunity for persons with disabilities in employment, State and local 
government services, public accommodations, commercial facilities, and transportation; 

-the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. Sections 1681, 1683, 1685-86), which prohibits 
discrimination on the basis of sex in federally assisted education programs; 

- the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. Sections 6106-07), which prohibits discrimination on the 
basis of age in programs or activities receiving Federal financial assistance. It does not include 
employment discrimination; 

- 28 C.F.R. pt. 31 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - OJJDP Grant Programs); 28 C.F.R. pt. 42 
(U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - Nondiscrimination; Equal Employment Opportunity; Policies 
and Procedures); Executive Order No. 13279 (equal protection of the laws for faith-based and community 
organizations); Executive Order No. 13559, which provide fundamental principles and policy-making 
criteria for partnerships with faith-based and neighborhood organizations; 

- 28 C.F.R. pt. 38 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - Equal Treatment for Faith-Based 
Organizations); and Whistleblower protections 41 U.S.C. §4712 and The National Defense Authorization 
Act (NOAA) for Fiscal Year 2013 (Pub. L. 112-239, enacted January 2, 2013) the Pilot Program for 
Enhancement of Contract Employee Whistleblower Protections, which protects employees against 
reprisal for certain whistle blowing activities in connection with federal grants and contracts. 

The certificate set out below is a material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the 
agency awards the grant. False certification or violation of the certification shall be grounds for 
suspension of payments, suspension or termination of grants, or government wide suspension or 
debarment. 

6/27/14 

Rev. 10/21/14 
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In the event a Federal or State court or Federal or State administrative agency makes a finding of 
discrimination after a due process hearing on the grounds of race, color, religion, national origin, or sex 
against a recipient of funds, the recipient will forward a copy of the finding to the Office for Civil Rights, to 
the applicable contracting agency or division within the Department of Health and Human Services, and 
to the Department of Health and Human Services Office of the Ombudsman. 

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's 
representative as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following 
certification: 

I. By signing and submitting this proposal (contract) the Contractor agrees to comply with the provisions 
indicated above. 

6/8/2021 

Date 

6/27/14 

Rev. 10/21114 

Contractor Name: 

c~::hn:;~:~~ICSW 
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING ENVIRONMENTAL TOBACCO SMOKE 

Public Law 103-227, Part C - Environmental Tobacco Smoke. also known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994 
(Act), requires that smoking not be permitted in any portion of any indoor facility owned or leased or 
contracted for by an entity and used routinely or regularly for the provision of health, day care, education, 
or library services to children under the age of 18, if the services are funded by Federal programs either 
directly or through State or local governments, by Federal grant, contract, loan, or loan guarantee. The 
law does not apply to children's services provided in private residences, facilities funded solely by 
Medicare or Medicaid funds, and portions of facilities used for inpatient drug or alcohol treatment. Failure 
to comply with the provisions of the law may result in the imposition of a civil monetary penalty of up to 
$1000 per day and/or the imposition of an administrative compliance order on the responsible entity. 

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees, by signature of the Contractor's 
representative as identified in Section 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following 
certification: 

1. By signing and submitting this contract, the Contractor agrees to make reasonable efforts to comply 
with all applicable provisions of Public Law 103-227, Part C, known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994. 

6/8/2021 

Date 
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HEALTH INSURANCE PORTABILITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY ACT 
BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT 

The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions of the Agreement agrees to 
comply with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, Public Law 104-191 and 
with the Standards for Privacy and Security of Individually Identifiable Health Information, 45 
CFR Parts 160 and 164 applicable to business associates. As defined herein, "Business 
Associate" shall mean the Contractor and subcontractors and agents of the Contractor that 
receive, use or have access to protected health information under this Agreement and "Covered 
Entity" shall mean the State of New Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Services. 

(1) Definitions. 

a. "Breach" shall have the same meaning as the term "Breach" in section 164.402 of Title 45, 
Code of Federal Regulations. 

b. "Business Associate" has the meaning given such term in section 160.103 of Title 45, Code 
of Federal Regulations. 

c. "Covered Entity" has the meaning given such term in section 160.103 of Title 45, 
Code of Federal Regulations. 

d. "Designated Record Set" shall have the same meaning as the term "designated record set" 
in 45 CFR Section 164.501. 

e. "Data Aggregation" shall have the same meaning as the term "data aggregation" in 45 CFR 
Section 164.501. 

f. "Health Care Operations" shall have the same meaning as the term "health care operations" 
in 45 CFR Section 164.501. 

g. "HITECH Act" means the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health 
Act, TitleXIII, Subtitle D, Part 1 & 2 of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 
2009. 

h. "HIPAA" means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, Public Law 
104-191 and the Standards for Privacy and Security of Individually Identifiable Health 
Information, 45 CFR Parts 160, 162 and 164 and amendments thereto. 

i. "Individual" shall have the same meaning as the term "individual" in 45 CFR Section 160.103 
and shall include a person who qualifies as a personal representative in accordance with 45 
CFR Section 164.501 (g). 

j. "Privacy Rule" shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health 
Information at 45 CFR Parts 160 and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the United States 
Department of Health and Human Services. 

k. "Protected Health Information" shall have the same meaning as the term "protected health 
information" in 45 CFR Section 160. 103, limited to the information created or receivFr~ 
Business Associate from or on behalf of Covered Entity. ~ 
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I. "Required by Law" shall have the same meaning as the term "required by law" in 45 CFR 
Section 164.103. 

m. "Secretary" shall mean the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services or 
his/her designee. 

n. "Security Rule" shall mean the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic Protected 
Health Information at 45 CFR Part 164, Subpart C, and amendments thereto. 

o. "Unsecured Protected Health Information" means protected health information that is not 
secured by a technology standard that renders protected health information unusable, 
unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthorized individuals and is developed or endorsed by 
a standards developing organization that is accredited by the American National Standards 
Institute. 

p. Other Definitions - All terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning 
established under 45 C.F.R. Parts 160, 162 and 164, as amended from time to time, and the 
HITECH 
Act. 

(2) 

a. 

b. 

C. 

d. 

3/2014 

Business Associate Use and Disclosure of Protected Health Information. 

Business Associate shall not use, disclose, maintain or transmit Protected Health 
Information (PHI) except as reasonably necessary to provide the services outlined under 
Exhibit A of the Agreement. Further, Business Associate, including but not limited to all 
its directors, officers, employees and agents, shall not use, disclose, maintain or transmit 
PHI in any manner that would constitute a violation of the Privacy and Security Rule. 

Business Associate may use or disclose PHI: 
I. For the proper management and administration of the Business Associate; 
II. As required by law, pursuant to the terms set forth in paragraph d. below; or 
Ill. For data aggregation purposes for the health care operations of Covered 

Entity. 

To the extent Business Associate is permitted under the Agreement to disclose PHI to a 
third party, Business Associate must obtain, prior to making any such disclosure, (i) 
reasonable assurances from the third party that such PHI will be held confidentially and 
used or further disclosed only as required by law or for the purpose for which it was 
disclosed to the third party; and (ii) an agreement from such third party to notify Business 
Associate, in accordance with the HIPAA Privacy, Security, and Breach Notification 
Rules of any breaches of the confidentiality of the PHI, to the extent it has obtained 
knowledge of such breach. 

The Business Associate shall not, unless such disclosure is reasonably necessary to 
provide services under Exhibit A of the Agreement, disclose any PHI in response to a 
request for disclosure on the basis that it is required by law, without first notifying 
Covered Entity so that Covered Entity has an opportunity to object to the disclosure and 
to seek appropriate relief. If Covered Entity objects to such disclosure, the Busi~ 
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Associate shall refrain from disclosing the PHI until Covered Entity has exhausted all 
remedies. 

e. If the Covered Entity notifies the Business Associate that Covered Entity has agreed to 
be bound by additional restrictions over and above those uses or disclosures or security 
safeguards of PHI pursuant to the Privacy and Security Rule, the Business Associate 
shall be bound by such additional restrictions and shall not disclose PHI in violation of 
such additional restrictions and shall abide by any additional security safeguards. 

(3) Obligations and Activities of Business Associate. 

a. The Business Associate shall notify the Covered Entity's Privacy Officer immediately 
after the Business Associate becomes aware of any use or disclosure of protected 
health information not provided for by the Agreement including breaches of unsecured 
protected health information and/or any security incident that may have an impact on the 
protected health information of the Covered Entity. 

b. The Business Associate shall immediately perform a risk assessment when it becomes 
aware of any of the above situations. The risk assessment shall include, but not be 
limited to: 

c. 

d. 

e. 

3/2014 

o The nature and extent of the protected health information involved, including the 
types of identifiers and the likelihood of re-identification; 

o The unauthorized person used the protected health information or to whom the 
disclosure was made; 

o Whether the protected health information was actually acquired or viewed 
o The extent to which the risk to the protected health information has been 

mitigated. 

The Business Associate shall complete the risk assessment within 48 hours of the 
breach and immediately report the findings of the risk assessment in writing to the 
Covered Entity. 

The Business Associate shall comply with all sections of the Privacy, Security, and 
Breach Notification Rule. 

Business Associate shall make available all of its internal policies and procedures, books 
and records relating to the use and disclosure of PHI received from, or created or 
received by the Business Associate on behalf of Covered Entity to the Secretary for 
purposes of determining Covered Entity's compliance with HIPAA and the Privacy and 
Security Rule. 

Business Associate shall require all of its business associates that receive, use or have 
access to PHI under the Agreement, to agree in writing to adhere to the same 
restrictions and conditions on the use and disclosure of PHI contained herein, including 
the duty to return or destroy the PHI as provided under Section 3 (I). The Covered Entity 
shall be considered a direct third party beneficiary of the Contractor's business assgpiate 
agreements with Contractor's intended business associates, who will be receivitwl 
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f. 

g. 

h. 

i. 

j. 

k. 

I. 

3/2014 

pursuant to this Agreement, with rights of enforcement and indemnification from such 
business associates who shall be governed by standard Paragraph #13 of the standard 
contract provisions (P-37) of this Agreement for the purpose of use and disclosure of 
protected health information. 

Within five (5) business days of receipt of a written request from Covered Entity, 
Business Associate shall make available during normal business hours at its offices all 
records, books, agreements, policies and procedures relating to the use and disclosure 
of PHI to the Covered Entity, for purposes of enabling Covered Entity to determine 
Business Associate's compliance with the terms of the Agreement. 

Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity, 
Business Associate shall provide access to PHI in a Designated Record Set to the 
Covered Entity, or as directed by Covered Entity, to an individual in order to meet the 
requirements under 45 CFR Section 164.524. 

Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity for an 
amendment of PHI or a record about an individual contained in a Designated Record 
Set, the Business Associate shall make such PHI available to Covered Entity for 
amendment and incorporate any such amendment to enable Covered Entity to fulfill its 
obligations under 45 CFR Section 164.526. 

Business Associate shall document such disclosures of PHI and information related to 
such disclosures as would be required for Covered Entity to respond to a request by an 
individual for an accounting of disclosures of PHI in accordance with 45 CFR Section 
164.528. 

Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity for a 
request for an accounting of disclosures of PHI, Business Associate shall make available 
to Covered Entity such information as Covered Entity may require to fulfill its obligations 
to provide an accounting of disclosures with respect to PHI in accordance with 45 CFR 
Section 164.528. 

In the event any individual requests access to, amendment of, or accounting of PHI 
directly from the Business Associate, the Business Associate shall within two (2) 
business days forward such request to Covered Entity. Covered Entity shall have the 
responsibility of responding to forwarded requests. However, if forwarding the 
individual's request to Covered Entity would cause Covered Entity or the Business 
Associate to violate HIPAA and the Privacy and Security Rule, the Business Associate 
shall instead respond to the individual's request as required by such law and notify 
Covered Entity of such response as soon as practicable. 

Within ten (10) business days of termination of the Agreement, for any reason, the 
Business Associate shall return or destroy, as specified by Covered Entity, all PHI 
received from, or created or received by the Business Associate in connection with the 
Agreement, and shall not retain any copies or back-up tapes of such PHI. If return or 
destruction is not feasible, or the disposition of the PHI has been otherwise agreed to in 
the Agreement, Business Associate shall continue to extend the protections of the 
Agreement, to such PHI and limit further uses and disclosures of such PHI to thr;ec:s, 
purposes that make the return or destruction infeasible, for so long as Business~ 
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(4) 

a. 

b. 

C. 

(5) 

(6) 

a. 

b. 

C. 

d. 

3/2014 

Associate maintains such PHI. If Covered Entity, in its sole discretion, requires that the 
Business Associate destroy any or all PHI, the Business Associate shall certify to 
Covered Entity that the PHI has been destroyed. 

Obligations of Covered Entity 

Covered Entity shall notify Business Associate of any changes or limitation(s) in its 
Notice of Privacy Practices provided to individuals in accordance with 45 CFR Section 
164.520, to the extent that such change or limitation may affect Business Associate's 
use or disclosure of PHI. 

Covered Entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any changes in, or revocation 
of permission provided to Covered Entity by individuals whose PHI may be used or 
disclosed by Business Associate under this Agreement, pursuant to 45 CFR Section 
164.506 or 45 CFR Section 164.508. 

Covered entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any restrictions on the use or 
disclosure of PHI that Covered Entity has agreed to in accordance with 45 CFR 164.522, 
to the extent that such restriction may affect Business Associate's use or disclosure of 
PHI. 

Termination for Cause 

In addition to Paragraph 10 of the standard terms and conditions (P-37) of this 
Agreement the Covered Entity may immediately terminate the Agreement upon Covered 
Entity's knowledge of a breach by Business Associate of the Business Associate 
Agreement set forth herein as Exhibit I. The Covered Entity may either immediately 
terminate the Agreement or provide an opportunity for Business Associate to cure the 
alleged breach within a timeframe specified by Covered Entity. If Covered Entity 
determines that neither termination nor cure is feasible, Covered Entity shall report the 
violation to the Secretary. 

Miscellaneous 

Definitions and Regulatory References. All terms used, but not otherwise defined herein, 
shall have the same meaning as those terms in the Privacy and Security Rule, amended 
from time to time. A reference in the Agreement, as amended to include this Exhibit I, to 
a Section in the Privacy and Security Rule means the Section as in effect or as 
amended. 

Amendment. Covered Entity and Business Associate agree to take such action as is 
necessary to amend the Agreement, from time to time as is necessary for Covered 
Entity to comply with the changes in the requirements of HIPAA, the Privacy and 
Security Rule, and applicable federal and state law. 

Data Ownership. The Business Associate acknowledges that it has no ownership rights 
with respect to the PHI provided by or created on behalf of Covered Entity. 

Interpretation. The parties agree that any ambiguity in the Agreement shall be r.~ed 
to permit Covered Entity to comply with HIPAA, the Privacy and Security Rule. k.fJ 
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e. Segregation. If any term or condition of this Exhibit I or the application thereof to any 
person(s) or circumstance is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other terms or 
conditions which can be given effect without the invalid term or condition; to this end the 
terms and conditions of this Exhibit I are declared severable. 

f. Survival. Provisions in this Exhibit I regarding the use and disclosure of PHI, return or 
destruction of PHI, extensions of the protections of the Agreement in section (3) I, the 
defense and indemnification provisions of section (3) e and Paragraph 13 of the 
standard terms and conditions (P-37), shall survive the termination of the Agreement. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Exhibit I. 

Department of Health and Human Services 

~cStatetby 

NAMI New Hampshire 

l ~6~8:e.·1. 
Signature of Authorized Representative 

Katja Fox 

Signature of Authorized Representative 

Kenneth Norton, LICSW 

Name of Authorized Representative 
Di rector 

Title of Authorized Representative 

6/8/2021 

Date 

3/2014 

Name of Authorized Representative 

Executive Director 

Title of Authorized Representative 

6/8/2021 

Date 
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING THE FEDERAL FUNDING ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY 
ACT (FFATA) COMPLIANCE 

The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA) requires prime awardees of individual 
Federal grants equal to or greater than $25,000 and awarded on or after October 1, 2010, to report on 
data related to executive compensation and associated first-tier sub-grants of $25,000 or more. If the 
initial award is below $25,000 but subsequent grant modifications result in a total award equal to or over 
$25,000, the award is subject to the FFATA reporting requirements, as of the date of the award. 
In accordance with 2 CFR Part 170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), the 

Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) must report the following information for any 
subaward or contract award subject to the FFATA reporting requirements: 
1. Name of entity 
2. Amount of award 
3. Funding agency 
4. NAICS code for contracts I CFDA program number for grants 
5. Program source 
6. Award title descriptive of the purpose of the funding action 
7. Location of the entity 
8. Principle place of performance 
9. Unique identifier of the entity (DUNS#) 
10. Total compensation and names of the top five executives if: 

10.1. More than 80% of annual gross revenues are from the Federal government, and those 
revenues are greater than $25M annually and 

10.2. Compensation information is not already available through reporting to the SEC. 

Prime grant recipients must submit FFATA required data by the end of the month, plus 30 days, in which 
the award or award amendment is made. 
The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of 
The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act, Public Law 109-282 and Public Law 110-252, 
and 2 CFR Part 170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), and further agrees 
to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions 
execute the following Certification: 
The below named Contractor agrees to provide needed information as outlined above to the NH 
Department of Health and Human Services and to comply with all applicable provisions of the Federal 
Financial Accountability and Transparency Act. 

6/8/2021 

Date 

CU/DHHS/110713 

Contractor Name: 

e±::·:." Name. e e~vf~~:t~n~~~csw 
Title: Executive Di rector 
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FORM A 

As the Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions, I certify that the responses to the 
below listed questions are true and accurate. 

883088411 
1. The DUNS number for your entity is: _______ _ 

2. In your business or organization's preceding completed fiscal year, did your business or organization 
receive (1) 80 percent or more of your annual gross revenue in U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts, 
loans, grants, sub-grants, and/or cooperative agreements; and (2) $25,000,000 or more in annual 
gross revenues from U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts, loans, grants, subgrants, and/or 
cooperative agreements? 

__ x __ NO ___ YES 

If the answer to #2 above is NO, stop here 

If the answer to #2 above is YES, please answer the following: 

3. Does the public have access to information about the compensation of the executives in your 
business or organization through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C.78m(a), 78o(d)) or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986? 

____ NO ____ YES 

If the answer to #3 above is YES, stop here 

If the answer to #3 above is NO, please answer the following: 

4. The names and compensation of the five most highly compensated officers in your business or 
organization are as follows: 

Name: 

Name: 

Name: 

Name: 

Name: 

CU/DHHS/110713 

Amount: 

Amount: 

Amount: 

Amount: 

Amount: 
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DHHS Information Security Requirements 

A. Definitions 

The following terms may be reflected and have the described meaning in this document: 

1. "Breach" means the loss of control, compromise, unauthorized disclosure, 
unauthorized acquisition, unauthorized access, or any similar term referring to 
situations where persons other than authorized users and for an other than 
authorized purpose have access or potential access to personally identifiable 
information, whether physical or electronic. With regard to Protected Health 
Information, " Breach" shall have the same meaning as the term "Breach" in section 
164.402 of Title 45, Code of Federal Regulations. 

2. "Computer Security Incident" shall have the same meaning "Computer Security 
Incident" in section two (2) of NIST Publication 800-61, Computer Security Incident 
Handling Guide, National Institute of Standards and Technology, U.S. Department 
of Commerce. 

3. "Confidential Information" or "Confidential Data" means all confidential information 
disclosed by one party to the other such as all medical, health, financial, public 
assistance benefits and personal information including without limitation, Substance 
Abuse Treatment Records, Case Records, Protected Health Information and 
Personally Identifiable Information. 

Confidential Information also includes any and all information owned or managed by 
the State of NH - created, received from or on behalf of the Department of Health and 
Human Services (DHHS) or accessed in the course of performing contracted 
services - of which collection, disclosure, protection, and disposition is governed by 
state or federal law or regulation. This information includes, but is not limited to 
Protected Health Information (PHI), Personal Information (Pl), Personal Financial 
Information (PFI), Federal Tax Information (FTI), Social Security Numbers (SSN), 
Payment Card Industry (PCI), and or other sensitive and confidential information. 

4. "End User" means any person or entity (e.g., contractor, contractor's employee, 
business associate, subcontractor, other downstream user, etc.) that receives 
DHHS data or derivative data in accordance with the terms of this Contract. 

5. "HIPAA" means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and the 
regulations promulgated thereunder. 

6. "Incident" means an act that potentially violates an explicit or implied security policy, 
which includes attempts (either failed or successful) to gain unauthorized access to a 
system or its data, unwanted disruption or denial of service, the unauthorized use of 
a system for the processing or storage of data; and changes to system hardware, 
firmware, or software characteristics without the owner's knowledge, instruction, or 
consent. Incidents include the loss of data through theft or device misplacement, loss 
or misplacement of hardcopy documents, and misrouting of physical or electronic 
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mail, all of which may have the potential to put the data at risk of unauthorized 
access, use, disclosure, modification or destruction. 

7. "Open Wireless Network" means any network or segment of a network that is 
not designated by the State of New Hampshire's Department of Information 
Technology or delegate as a protected network (designed, tested, and 
approved, by means of the State, to transmit) will be considered an open 
network and not adequately secure for the transmission of unencrypted Pl, PFI, 
PHI or confidential DHHS data. 

8. "Personal Information" (or "Pl") means information which can be used to distinguish 
or trace an individual's identity, such as their name, social security number, personal 
information as defined in New Hampshire RSA 359-C:19, biometric records, etc., 
alone, or when combined with other personal or identifying information which is linked 
or linkable to a specific individual, such as date and place of birth, mother's maiden 
name, etc. 

9. "Privacy Rule" shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health 
Information at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the United 
States Department of Health and Human Services. 

10. "Protected Health Information" (or "PHI") has the same meaning as provided in the 
definition of "Protected Health Information" in the HIPAA Privacy Rule at 45 C.F.R. § 
160.103. 

11. "Security Rule" shall mean the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic 
Protected Health Information at 45 C.F.R. Part 164, Subpart C, and amendments 
thereto. 

12. "Unsecured Protected Health Information" means Protected Health Information that is 
not secured by a technology standard that renders Protected Health Information 
unusable, unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthorized individuals and is 
developed or endorsed by a standards developing organization that is accredited by 
the American National Standards Institute. 

I. RESPONSIBILITIES OF DHHS AND THE CONTRACTOR 

A. Business Use and Disclosure of Confidential Information. 

1. The Contractor must not use, disclose, maintain or transmit Confidential Information 
except as reasonably necessary as outlined under this Contract. Further, Contractor, 
including but not limited to all its directors, officers, employees and agents, must not 
use, disclose, maintain or transmit PHI in any manner that would constitute a violation 
of the Privacy and Security Rule. 

2. The Contractor must not disclose any Confidential Information in response to a 
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request for disclosure on the basis that it is required by law, in response to a 
subpoena, etc., without first notifying DHHS so that DHHS has an opportunity to 
consent or object to the disclosure. 

3. If DHHS notifies the Contractor that DHHS has agreed to be bound by additional 
restrictions over and above those uses or disclosures or security safeguards of PHI 
pursuant to the Privacy and Security Rule, the Contractor must be bound by such 
additional restrictions and must not disclose PHI in violation of such additional 
restrictions and must abide by any additional security safeguards. 

4. The Contractor agrees that DHHS Data or derivative there from disclosed to an End 
User must only be used pursuant to the terms of this Contract. 

5. The Contractor agrees DHHS Data obtained under this Contract may not be used for 
any other purposes that are not indicated in this Contract. 

6. The Contractor agrees to grant access to the data to the authorized representatives 
of DHHS for the purpose of inspecting to confirm compliance with the terms of this 
Contract. 

II. METHODS OF SECURE TRANSMISSION OF DATA 

1. Application Encryption. If End User is transmitting DHHS data containing 
Confidential Data between applications, the Contractor attests the applications have 
been evaluated by an expert knowledgeable in cyber security and that said 
application's encryption capabilities ensure secure transmission via the internet. 

2. Computer Disks and Portable Storage Devices. End User may not use computer disks 
or portable storage devices, such as a thumb drive, as a method of transmitting DHHS 
data. 

3. Encrypted Email. End User may only employ email to transmit Confidential Data if 
email is encrypted and being sent to and being received by email addresses of 
persons authorized to receive such information. 

4. Encrypted Web Site. If End User is employing the Web to transmit Confidential 
Data, the secure socket layers (SSL) must be used and the web site must be 
secure. SSL encrypts data transmitted via a Web site. 

5. File Hosting Services, also known as File Sharing Sites. End User may not use file 
hosting services, such as Dropbox or Google Cloud Storage, to transmit 
Confidential Data. 

6. Ground Mail Service. End User may only transmit Confidential Data via certified ground 
mail within the continental U.S. and when sent to a named individual. 

7. Laptops and PDA. If End User is employing portable devices to transmit 
Confidential Data said devices must be encrypted and password-protected. 

8. Open Wireless Networks. End User may not transmit Confidential Data via an open 
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wireless network. End User must employ a virtual private network (VPN) when 
remotely transmitting via an open wireless network. 

9. Remote User Communication. If End User is employing remote communication to 
access or transmit Confidential Data, a virtual private network (VPN) must be 
installed on the End User's mobile device(s) or laptop from which information will be 
transmitted or accessed. 

10. SSH File Transfer Protocol (SFTP), also known as Secure File Transfer Protocol. If 
End User is employing an SFTP to transmit Confidential Data, End User will 
structure the Folder and access privileges to prevent inappropriate disclosure of 
information. SFTP folders and sub-folders used for transmitting Confidential Data will 
be coded for 24-hour auto-deletion cycle (i.e. Confidential Data will be deleted every 24 
hours). 

11. Wireless Devices. If End User is transmitting Confidential Data via wireless devices, all 
data must be encrypted to prevent inappropriate disclosure of information. 

Ill. RETENTION AND DISPOSITION OF IDENTIFIABLE RECORDS 

The Contractor will only retain the data and any derivative of the data for the duration of this 
Contract. After such time, the Contractor will have 30 days to destroy the data and any 
derivative in whatever form it may exist, unless, otherwise required by law or permitted 
under this Contract. To this end, the parties must: 

A. Retention 

1. The Contractor agrees it will not store, transfer or process data collected in 
connection with the services rendered under this Contract outside of the United 
States. This physical location requirement shall also apply in the implementation of 
cloud computing, cloud service or cloud storage capabilities, and includes backup 
data and Disaster Recovery locations. 

2. The Contractor agrees to ensure proper security monitoring capabilities are in 
place to detect potential security events that can impact State of NH systems 
and/or Department confidential information for contractor provided systems. 

3. The Contractor agrees to provide security awareness and education for its End 
Users in support of protecting Department confidential information. 

4. The Contractor agrees to retain all electronic and hard copies of Confidential Data 
in a secure location and identified in section IV. A.2 

5. The Contractor agrees Confidential Data stored in a Cloud must be in a 
FedRAMP/HITECH compliant solution and comply with all applicable statutes and 
regulations regarding the privacy and security. All servers and devices must have 
currently-supported and hardened operating systems, the latest anti-viral, anti­
hacker, anti-spam, anti-spyware, and anti-malware utilities. The environment, as a 
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whole, must have aggressive intrusion-detection and firewall protection. 

6. The Contractor agrees to and ensures its complete cooperation with the State's 
Chief Information Officer in the detection of any security vulnerability of the hosting 
infrastructure. 

B. Disposition 

1. If the Contractor will maintain any Confidential Information on its systems (or its 
sub-contractor systems), the Contractor will maintain a documented process for 
securely disposing of such data upon request or contract termination; and will 
obtain written certification for any State of New Hampshire data destroyed by the 
Contractor or any subcontractors as a part of ongoing, emergency, and or disaster 
recovery operations. When no longer in use, electronic media containing State of 
New Hampshire data shall be rendered unrecoverable via a secure wipe program 
in accordance with industry-accepted standards for secure deletion and media 
sanitization, or otherwise physically destroying the media (for example, 
degaussing) as described in NIST Special Publication 800-88, Rev 1, Guidelines 
for Media Sanitization, National Institute of Standards and Technology, U. S. 
Department of Commerce. The Contractor will document and certify in writing at 
time of the data destruction, and will provide written certification to the Department 
upon request. The written certification will include all details necessary to 
demonstrate data has been properly destroyed and validated. Where applicable, 
regulatory and professional standards for retention requirements will be jointly 
evaluated by the State and Contractor prior to destruction. 

2. Unless otherwise specified, within thirty (30) days of the termination of this 
Contract, Contractor agrees to destroy all hard copies of Confidential Data using a 
secure method such as shredding. 

3. Unless otherwise specified, within thirty (30) days of the termination of this 
Contract, Contractor agrees to completely destroy all electronic Confidential Data 
by means of data erasure, also known as secure data wiping. 

IV. PROCEDURES FOR SECURITY 

A. Contractor agrees to safeguard the DHHS Data received under this Contract, and any 
derivative data or files, as follows: 

1. The Contractor will maintain proper security controls to protect Department 
confidential information collected, processed, managed, and/or stored in the delivery 
of contracted services. 

2. The Contractor will maintain policies and procedures to protect Department 
confidential information throughout the information lifecycle, where applicable, (from 
creation, transformation, use, storage and secure destruction) regardless of the 
media used to store the data (i.e., tape, disk, paper, etc.). 
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3. The Contractor will maintain appropriate authentication and access controls to 
contractor systems that collect, transmit, or store Department confidential information 
where applicable. 

4. The Contractor will ensure proper security monitoring capabilities are in place to 
detect potential security events that can impact State of NH systems and/or 
Department confidential information for contractor provided systems. 

5. The Contractor will provide regular security awareness and education for its End 
Users in support of protecting Department confidential information. 

6. If the Contractor will be sub-contracting any core functions of the engagement 
supporting the services for State of New Hampshire, the Contractor will maintain a 
program of an internal process or processes that defines specific security 
expectations, and monitoring compliance to security requirements that at a minimum 
match those for the Contractor, including breach notification requirements. 

7. The Contractor will work with the Department to sign and comply with all applicable 
State of New Hampshire and Department system access and authorization policies 
and procedures, systems access forms, and computer use agreements as part of 
obtaining and maintaining access to any Department system(s). Agreements will be 
completed and signed by the Contractor and any applicable sub-contractors prior to 
system access being authorized. 

8. If the Department determines the Contractor is a Business Associate pursuant to 45 
CFR 160.103, the Contractor will execute a HIPAA Business Associate Agreement 
(BAA) with the Department and is responsible for maintaining compliance with the 
agreement. 

9. The Contractor will work with the Department at its request to complete a System 
Management Survey. The purpose of the survey is to enable the Department and 
Contractor to monitor for any changes in risks, threats, and vulnerabilities that may 
occur over the life of the Contractor engagement. The survey will be completed 
annually, or an alternate time frame at the Departments discretion with agreement by 
the Contractor, or the Department may request the survey be completed when the 
scope of the engagement between the Department and the Contractor changes. 

10. The Contractor will not store, knowingly or unknowingly, any State of New Hampshire 
or Department data offshore or outside the boundaries of the United States unless 
prior express written consent is obtained from the Information Security Office 
leadership member within the Department. 

11. Data Security Breach Liability. In the event of any security breach Contractor shall 
make efforts to investigate the causes of the breach, promptly take measures to 
prevent future breach and minimize any damage or loss resulting from the breach. 
The State shall recover from the Contractor all costs of response and recovery from 
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the breach, including but not limited to: credit monitoring services, mailing costs and 
costs associated with website and telephone call center services necessary due to 
the breach. 

12. Contractor must, comply with all applicable statutes and regulations regarding the 
privacy and security of Confidential Information, and must in all other respects 
maintain the privacy and security of Pl and PHI at a level and scope that is not less 
than the level and scope of requirements applicable to federal agencies, including, 
but not limited to, provisions of the Privacy Act of 197 4 (5 U.S.C. § 552a), DHHS 
Privacy Act Regulations (45 C.F.R. §5b), HIPAA Privacy and Security Rules (45 
C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164) that govern protections for individually identifiable health 
information and as applicable under State law, 

13. Contractor agrees to establish and maintain appropriate administrative, technical, and 
physical safeguards to protect the confidentiality of the Confidential Data and to 
prevent unauthorized use or access to it. The safeguards must provide a level and 
scope of security that is not less than the level and scope of security requirements 
established by the State of New Hampshire, Department of Information Technology. 
Refer to Vendor Resources/Procurement at https://www.nh.gov/doiUvendor/index.htm 
for the Department of Information Technology policies, guidelines, standards, and 
procurement information relating to vendors. 

14. Contractor agrees to maintain a documented breach notification and incident 
response process. The Contractor will notify the State's Privacy Officer and the 
State's Security Officer of any security breach immediately, at the email addresses 
provided in Section VI. This includes a confidential information breach, computer 
security incident, or suspected breach which affects or includes any State of New 
Hampshire systems that connect to the State of New Hampshire network. 

15. Contractor must restrict access to the Confidential Data obtained under this 
Contract to only those authorized End Users who need such DHHS Data to 
perform their official duties in connection with purposes identified in this Contract. 

16. The Contractor must ensure that all End Users: 

a. comply with such safeguards as referenced in Section IV A. above, 
implemented to protect Confidential Information that is furnished by DHHS 
under this Contract from loss, theft or inadvertent disclosure. 

b. safeguard this information at all times. 

c. ensure that laptops and other electronic devices/media containing PHI, Pl, or 
PFI are encrypted and password-protected. 

d. send emails containing Confidential Information only if encrypted and being 
sent to and being received by email addresses of persons authorized to 
receive such information. 
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e. limit disclosure of the Confidential Information to the extent permitted by law. 

f. Confidential Information received under this Contract and individually 
identifiable data derived from DHHS Data, must be stored in an area that is 
physically and technologically secure from access by unauthorized persons 
during duty hours as well as non-duty hours (e.g., door locks, card keys, 
biometric identifiers, etc.). 

g. only authorized End Users may transmit the Confidential Data, including any 
derivative files containing personally identifiable information, and in all cases, 
such data must be encrypted at all times when in transit, at rest, or when 
stored on portable media as required in section IV above. 

h. in all other instances Confidential Data must be maintained, used and 
disclosed using appropriate safeguards, as determined by a risk-based 
assessment of the circumstances involved. 

i. understand that their user credentials (user name and password) must not be 
shared with anyone. End Users will keep their credential information secure. 
This applies to credentials used to access the site directly or indirectly through 
a third party application. 

Contractor is responsible for oversight and compliance of their End Users. DHHS 
reserves the right to conduct onsite inspections to monitor compliance with this 
Contract, including the privacy and security requirements provided in herein, HIPAA, 
and other applicable laws and Federal regulations until such time the Confidential Data 
is disposed of in accordance with this Contract. 

V. LOSS REPORTING 

The Contractor must notify the State's Privacy Officer and Security Officer of any 
Security Incidents and Breaches immediately, at the email addresses provided in 
Section VI. 

The Contractor must further handle and report Incidents and Breaches involving PHI in 
accordance with the agency's documented Incident Handling and Breach Notification 
procedures and in accordance with 42 C.F.R. §§ 431.300 - 306. In addition to, and 
notwithstanding, Contractor's compliance with all applicable obligations and procedures, 
Contractor's procedures must also address how the Contractor will: 

1. Identify Incidents; 

2. Determine if personally identifiable information is involved in Incidents; 

3. Report suspected or confirmed Incidents as required in this Exhibit or P-37; 

4. Identify and convene a core response group to determine the risk level of Incidents 
and determine risk-based responses to Incidents; and 
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5. Determine whether Breach notification is required, and, if so, identify appropriate 
Breach notification methods, timing, source, and contents from among different 
options, and bear costs associated with the Breach notice as well as any mitigation 
measures. 

Incidents and/or Breaches that implicate Pl must be addressed and reported, as 
applicable, in accordance with NH RSA 359-C:20. 

VI. PERSONS TO CONTACT 

A. DHHS Privacy Officer: 

DHHSPrivacyOfficer@dhhs.nh.gov 

B. DHHS Security Officer: 

DHHSlnformationSecurityOffice@dhhs.nh.gov 
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State of New Hampshire 

Department of State 

CERTIFICATE 

I, William tvl. Gardner. Secretary of State of the State of New Hampshire. do hereby certify th:it NAM! NEW HAMPSHIRE is 

a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered w transact business in Ne\\. Hampshire on September 24, 1982. 1 further 

certify that all fees and documents required by the Secretary ofStJtc·s oftice haw been received and is in good standing as far as 

this office is concerned. 

Business ID: 62349 

Certificme Number: 0005354553 

64 

IN TESTEvlONY WHEREOF, 

I hereto set my hand and cause to be affixed 

the Seal of the Stat-: of New Hampshire. 

thi, 21st day of April A.D. 202 l. 

William M. Gardner 

Secretary of State 
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CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY 

I, _Russell S. Conte _____________________ , hereby certify that: 

1. I am a duly elected President of _NAMI New Hampshire __________________ _ 

2. The following is a true copy of a vote taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors/shareholders, duly called and 
held on _June 4, 2021, at which a quorum of the Directors/shareholders were present and voting. 

VOTED: That _Kenneth C. Norton, Executive Director _________ (may list more than one person) 

is duly authorized on behalf of_NAMI New Hampshire ______ to enter into contracts or agreements 
with the State of New Hampshire and any of its agencies or departments and further is authorized to execute any 
and all documents, agreements and other instruments, and any amendments, revisions, or modifications thereto, 
which may in his/her judgment be desirable or necessary to effect the purpose of this vote. 

3. I hereby certify that said vote has not been amended or repealed and remains in full force and effect as of the 
date of the contract/contract amendment to which this certificate is attached. This authority remains valid for 
thirty (30) days from the date of this Certificate of Authority. I further certify that it is understood that the State of 
New Hampshire will rely on this certificate as evidence that the person(s) listed above currently occupy the 
position(s) indicated and that they have full authority to bindft!Ere0.rporation. To the extent that there are any 
limits on the authority of any listed individual to bind the cor eiration i contracts with the St of New Hampshire, 
all such limitations are expressly stated herein. 

Dated: June 7, 2021 

Rev. 03/24/20 

Signature of E ected Officer 
Name: Russell S. Conte 
Title: President 
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ACORD® CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE I DATE (MMIDD/YYYY) 

~ 06/07/2021 

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS 

CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES 

BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED 

REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. 

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed. 

If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on 

this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s). 

PRODUCER CONTACT Eleanor Spinazzola NAME: 

E & S Insurance Services LLC iA~gNJo Ext' (603) 293-2791 I r..et Nol: (603) 293-7188 

21 Meadowbrook Lane E-MAIL Eleanorspinazzola@esinsurance.net ADDRESS: 

PO Box 7425 INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC # 

Gilford NH 03247-7425 INSURER A: Philadelphia Insurance Co 

INSURED INSURER B: Technology Insurance Co 42376 

National Alliance on Mental Illness, NAM I-NH INSURER C: 

85 North State Street INSURER D: 

INSURER E: 

Concord NH 03301 INSURER F: 

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: 21-22 REVISION NUMBER· 
THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD 
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT. TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS 
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS, 
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS. 

INSR '" "' POLICY EFF POLICY EXP 
LTR TYPE OF INSURANCE INSD VWD POLICY NUMBER IMM/DD/YYYYI IMM/DD/YYYY\ LIMITS 

X COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY EACH OCCURRENCE s 1,000,000 
~ 

□ CLAIMS-MADE [81 OCCUR g~~1
~~i;9E~Eo~~~r?ence\ s 100,000 

1--
MED EXP (Any one person) s 5,000 

A PHPK2245925 05/07/2021 05/07/2022 PERSONAL & ADV INJURY s 1,000,000 
1--

~~r AGGRE□ Li:~_APP□ER 
GENERAL AGGREGATE s 3,000,000 

POLICY JECT LOC PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG s 3,000,000 

OTHER: AbMol Cnslr. ClssSpc s 1,000,000 

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY 
1--

fOMBINED SINGLE LIMIT 
Ea accident) s 1,000,000 

ANY AUTO BODILY INJURY (Per person) s 
- OWNED 

~ 

SCHEDULED A PHPK2245925 05/07/2021 05/07/2022 BODILY INJURY (Per accident) s AUTOS ONLY AUTOS 

~ HIRED x NON-OWNED ~ROPERTY DAMAGE s AUTOS ONLY AUTOS ONLY Per accidentl 

s 

~ UMBRELLA LIAB H OCCUR EACH OCCURRENCE s 1,000,000 

A EXCESS LIAB CLAIMS-MADE PHUB758993 05/07/2021 05/07/2022 AGGREGATE s 

DED I XI RETENTION$ 10,000 s 
WORKERS COMPENSATION 

xImTUTE 1 
I OTH-

AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY ER 
YIN 

B ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE 
~ TWC3906483 10/10/2020 10/10/2021 E.L. EACH ACCIDENT s 500,000 

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED? NIA 
(Mandatory in NH) E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE s 500,000 
If yes. describe under 500,000 DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT s 

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS I LOCATIONS I VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required) 

CERTIFICATE HOLDER 

State of NH Department of 

Health and Human Services 

129 Pleasant Street 

Concord 

ACORD 25 (2016/03) 

NH 03301 

CANCELLATION 

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE 
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS. 

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE 

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved. 

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD 
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NAMI New Hampshire Mission Statement 

NAMI New Hampshire (National Alliance on Mental Illness) is a grassroots organization 
working to improve the quality of life for all by providing support, education, and advocacy for 
people affected by mental illness and suicide. 

Find Help, Find Hope. 
NAMI New Hampshire • 85 North State Street • Concord, NH 03301 

lnfoline: 800-242-6264 • Tel. 603-225-5359 • Fax 603-228-8848 • info@naminh.org / www.NAMINH.org 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Board of Directors 
NAMl New Hampshire 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of NAMI New Hampshire (a nonprofit 
entity), which comprise the statements of financial position as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, and the related 
statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes 
to the financial statements. 

ftfanagement's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
vvhether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of signi (icant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

\Ve believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 
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Opinion 

ln our opinion, the financial statements refcm:d to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position ofNAMl New Hampshire as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, and the changes in its net assets 
and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America. 

Manchester, New Hampshire 
December 23, 2020 

2 
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NAMl NEW HAMPSHIRE 
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
June 30, 2020 and 20 f 9 

ASSETS 

CURRE:--!T ASSETS: 
Cash 
Investments 
Accounts receivable, net 
Prepaid expenses 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT: 
Land 
Building and improvements 
Equipment 
Furniture and fixtures 

Less accumulated depreciation 
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 

OTIIER NONCURRENT ASSETS: 
Investments 

TOTAL OTIJER NONCURRENT ASSETS 

TOT AL ASSETS 

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

CURRENT LlAI3ILITIES: 
Accounts payable 
Accrued expenses 
Current portion of SBA note payable 
Current portion of mortgage notes payable 

TOTAL CURRENT LlABlLlTlES 

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES: 
SBA note payable, less current portion 
Mortgage notes payable, less current portion 

TOTAL NONCURRENT LlABJLITJES 

TOTAL LIAI3ILITIES 

NET ASSETS: 
\Vithout donor restrictions: 
Undesignatcd 
Board designated 
TOTAL NET ASSETS 

TOTAL LIABJLITIES AND NET ASSETS 

See notes to(inancial statement.,· 

3 

$ 

s 

s 

s 

2020 

459,782 $ 239,362 
729,694 279,143 
500,646 283,749 

5,246 
1,690,122 807,500 

290,800 290,800 
l, 177,690 l, 177,690 

8,218 8,218 
604 604 

1,477,312 1,477,312 
(163,077) {13 l,034) 

l.314,235 1,346,278 

441,241 444,251 
441,241 444,251 

3 $ 2,598,029 

180,142 s 91,892 
221,929 120,468 
200,022 

34,728 33,128 
636,821 245,488 

254,778 
486,838 541,670 
741,616 541,670 

1,378,437 787,158 

l.625,920 1,366,620 
441,241 444,251 

2,067,161 1,810,871 

3,445,598 s 2.598,029 
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NAMI NEW HAMPSHIRE 
ST A TEMENTS or ACTIVITIES 
for the Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 

CHANGES IN NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 
REVENUE AND SUPPORT: 

Fees and grants from governmental agencies 
Contributions 
Interest and dividends 
Unrealized gains on investments 
In-kind donations 
Fundraising events 
Training services 
Membership dues 
Other revenue 

TOTAL REVENUE AND SUPPORT 
WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 

EXPENSES: 
PROGRAM SERVICES: 

Community and Public Policy Relations 
Connect Suicide Prevention Project 
Public Education 

TOTAL PROGRAM SERVfCES 

SUPPORTING SERVICES: 
Management and general 
Fundraising and development 

TOTAL SUPPORTING SERVICES 
TOTAL EXPENSES 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 

NET ASSETS - JULY t 

NET ASSETS - JUNE 30 

See notes to financial statemtnls 

4 

s 

$ 

2020 JQ.12 

2,152,786 $ 1,528,669 
437,757 541,053 

12,539 11,539 
3.740 26,166 

28,500 72,831 
171,600 176,742 
907,170 964,151 

5,185 4,675 
11,640 17,981 

3,730,917 3,343,807 

[06,001 141,517 
366,906 333,397 

2,212,321 1,879,874 
2,685,228 2.354,788 

453,443 397,548 
335,956 354,280 
789,399 751,828 

3,474,627 3,106,616 

256,290 237,191 

l,810,87! 1,573,680 

2,067,161 s 1,810,871 
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NAMI NE'\V HAMPSHIRE 
STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020 

Program Services 
----··~ 

Supporting Servic,~s 

Community Connect 
and Public Suicide Total Manaoement 

C, Total 
Policy Prevention Public Program and Supporting Total 

Relations. Project E~ucation Services General Fundraising Services ~enses 
SALARIES AND RELATED EXPENSES: 

Salaries $ 82A64 $ 177,825 $ 1,503,224 s 1,763,513 $ 250,174 s 178,332 s 428.506 s 2,192,019 
Employee benefits 6,157 23,079 191,305 220,541 27,614 37.641 65,155 285,796 
Payroll taxe, 6,342 13.244 113,125 132,711 !9,938 __ 12,999 32.937 165,648 

94,963 214,148 1,807,654 2,116,765 297.726 228,972 'i26,698 2,6-13,463 --··•~ .. ~ ...... 

OTHER EXPE~SES: 
Accounting 126 739 3.072 3,937 87 3,422 3,509 7,446 
Audit foes 525 1,924 12,766 15,215 1.750 525 2.275 17,490 
Legal and membership fees 859 4,346 5,205 15,856 13.980 29,836 35,041 
Contracted services 88,677 37,995 126,672 7,190 4,490 ! l,680 138,352 
Client services/training 11,055 93.301 I 04,356 104,356 
Software subscriptions 1,798 20,566 22,364 5.538 14,755 20.291 42,657 
Staff conferences and conventions l,270 6,828 8,098 2,538 2,538 10,636 
Occupancy l,112 ·1,076 27,049 32.,237 8l6 4.076 4,892 37,129 

Office supplies 228 192 2,07-1 2.494 15,879 1,346 17,225 19,719 

Maintenance 1,407 5,161 34.248 40,816 70,938 5,161 76.099 116,915 

Fundraising/Evenl supplies 26.00] 26,001 26,001 

Depreciation 96! 3,525 23.,7l2 28,198 320 3,525 3,845 32,043 

Food supplies 560 560 5.431 8,388 13,819 14,379 

Equipment rental 472 l,731 11,646 13,849 158 1.731 1,889 15,738 

Equipment maintenance 75 75 7,487 7,487 7,562 

Advertising 981 981 490 934 L424 2,405 

Printing 65 65 331 331 396 

Telephone and Communications 2,136 4,343 28,464 34,943 17,626 4,245 21,871 56,814 

Postage and Shipping 93 1,275 551 1,919 513 2,486 2,999 4,918 

Stafftranspo1iation 897 22,51 I 74,282 97,690 291 1,951 2,242 99,932 

Insurance 327 1,330 8,825 10,482 277 1.330 1,607 12,089 

Non-cash supplies 18,307 18,307 4,093 6,100 10,193 28,500 

Other expenditures 646 646 646 

Total s 106,001 s 366,906 s 2.212,321 $ 2,685,228 s 453,443 $ 335,956 $ 789,399 $ 3.474,627 

See notes to financial statements 
5 
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:\'AMI. NEW HAMPSHIRE 
STATEMENT OF FUNCHONAL EXPENSES 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Program Services Supporting Services 
Community Connect 
and Public Suicide Total Management Total 

Policy Prevention Public Program and Supponing Total 
Relations Prok_g Education Services D~tc..t::<.'lJ Fundraisimi: Services Expenses 

SALARJES AND REL\ TED EXPENSES: 
Salaries s 92,523 s 185,296 $ 1,124,949 $ 1,402,768 $ 197,379 $ 160,624 $ 358,003 $ 1.760,771 
Employee benefits 8,862 27,361 185,434 221,657 23,070 39,448 62,518 284,175 
Payroll taxes 8,427 __ 14,580 91,2()? l 14,275 }?,25? 1_1,831 30,087 144.362 

109,812 227,237 1,401,651 1,738,700 238,705 211,903 450,608 2,189,308 

OTHER EXPENSES 
Accounting 334 335 4,509 5,678 1.753 5,509 7.262 12.940 
Audit foes 438 l.095 5,915 7,448 2.300 1.205 3,505 10,953 
Legal and membership foes 330 2,343 2,673 5,290 10,401 15,691 18,364 
Contracted services 3.630 8,776 50,724 63.130 17,488 15,255 32,743 95,873 
Client services/training 16,197 71,270 87,467 1,488 440 1,928 89,395 
Software subscriptions 2,025 24,891 26,916 3.621 4,882 8,503 35,419 
Staff conferences and conventions 1,865 1.577 5,265 8,707 1,415 l,415 10,122 
Occupancy 1.654 4,134 22,324 28,112 8,681 4,547 13,228 41,340 

Office supplies 848 2,945 10,542 14,335 J.852 2.489 6,341 20_676 
Maintenance 4,187 10,468 56,577 71,232 21,982 l 1,515 33,497 104,729 
Fundraising/Evcnt supplies 1,648 1,648 2.232 40,446 42,678 44,326 
Depreciation 1,075 2,689 14,519 18,283 5,647 2,957 8,604 26.887 
Food supplies 2.373 237 5,864 8,474 7~520 14,316 21,836 30,310 
Equipment rental 587 1,468 7,929 9,984 3,085 6.377 9,462 19,446 
Equipment maintenance 225 150 1,299 1,674 5,351 5.351 7,025 
Advertising 648 332 980 367 367 1,347 

Printing 331 331 331 
Telephone and Communications 3,478 5,041 33,424 41.943 3,736 6,299 I0,035 51,978 

Postage and Shipping 60 1,603 587 2,250 2,719 3,836 6.555 8,805 
Staff transportation 8,254 42,388 98,646 149,288 498 2,081 2,579 15],867 
Insurance 616 1,541 8,324 10,48 I 3,237 5,271 8,508 18,989 
Non-cash supplies 12,063 12,063 56,250 4,518 60,768 72,831 
Other expenditures 103 43.219 43,322 33 33 43,355 

Total s 141,517 s 333,39~ $ l,879,874 $ 2,354,788 s 397,548 $ 354.280 $ 751,828 $ 3,106,616 

See notes to financial statements 
6 
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NAMl NEW HAMPSHIRE 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
Cash received from grants and contributions 
Interest income received 
Other income received 
Cash paid to employees 
Cash paid to suppliers and others 
Interest paid 

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
Purchase of investments 

Net Cash Used by Investing Activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
Payments on mortgage nolcs payable 
Proceeds from SBA note payable 

Net Cash Provided (Used) for Financing Activities 

Nd Increase in Cash 

Cash, beginning of year 
Cash, ending of year 

Suppkmental Disclosure of Non-cash Transadions: 
ln-kind donation~ received 
ln-kind expenses 
Forgiveness of debt 

Sec no!e.1 tofincmciaf s;atements 

7 

:llifi! 2019 

s 3,461,801 s 3,219,850 
12,539 11,539 
11,640 17,981 

(2,090,561) (1,757,281) 
(1,115,000) (!, 164,142) 

(24,766) (23,904) 

255,653 304,043 

(443,801) (94,578) 

(443,801) (94,578) 

(46,232) (42,365) 
454,800 

408,568 (42,365) 

220,420 167,100 

239,362 72,262 

$ 459,782 s 239,362 

s 28,500 s 72,831 
(28,500) (72,831) 

7,000 7,000 

s 7,000 s 7,000 ---= 
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NAMI NEW HAMPSHIRE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL ST ATE.MENTS 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2020 nnd 2019 

NOTE I-SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Organizatio11 and Purpose 

NAMI New Hampshire (National Alliance on Mental Tllness) was founded as a nonprofit corporation in 
1982 and is committed to improving the lives of all people affected by mental illness and suicide through 
suppo11, education and advocacy. As a grassroots coalition of people living with mental illness and their 
families, NAMI NH has over 35 years of service to Granite State children, transition age youth, adults, 
and seniors, offering statewide activities which provide educationhraining and support to individuals, 
families and communities. The organization also promotes and provides advocacy and empowerment at 
the individual/family level as well as at the systems level by offering members, volunteers, and 
stakeholders training and graduated opp01iunities to build confidence in advocacy and leadership skills. 
Last year, NAMJ NH provided support, education and advocacy to over l 5,000 individuals. The financial 
support for these programs and activities comes from a variety of sources that include governmental and 
private foundation grants, contract services, donations, and membership dues. 

We envision a future where people affected by mental illness have hope, help, and health, and are able to: 
Access the suppo1is and evidence-based treatment necessary for recovery; 
Have a lifespan that is not cut short by suicide or co-occurring conditions; and 
Reach their full potential, living in their communities free from discrimination. 

Accounting Policies 

The accounting policies of NAM! New Hampshire conform to accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America as applicable to non-profit entities except as indicated hereafter. The 
following is a summary of significant accounting policies. 

Basis of Accounti11g 

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. 

Basis of Presentation 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the reporting pronouncements pertaining 
to Not-for-Profit Entities included within the FASB Accounting Standards Codification. The Entity is 
required to report information regarding its financial position and activities according to the following net 
asset classifications: 

Net Assets /Yithout Donor Restrictions - Net assets available for use in general operations and not subject 
to donor or ce11ain grantor restrictions. The governing board has designated, from net assets \Vithout 
donor restrictions, net assets for an operating reserve. 

Net Assets /:Vith Donor Restrictio11s - Net assets subject to donor or certain grantor imposed restrictions. 
Some donor imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those that will be met by the passage of 
time or other events specified by the donor. Other donor imposed restrictions arc perpetual in nature, 
where the donor stipulates that resources be maintained in perpetuity. Donor-imposed restrictions are 

8 
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l\'AMI NEW HAMPSHIRE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 

released when a restriction expires, that is, when the stipulated time has elapsed, when the stipulated 
purpose for which the resource was restricted has been fulfilled, or both. 

Recognition of Donor Restrictions 

Contributions are recognized when the donor makes a promise to give to the Entity that is, in substance, 
unconditional. The Entity reports contributions restricted by donors as increases in net assets without 
donor restrictions if the restrictions expire (that is, \vhen a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose 
restriction is accomplished) in the reporting period in which the revenue is recognized. All other donor 
restricted contributions arc rcpo11ed as increases in n0t assets with donor restrictions, depending on the 
nature of the restrictions. When a restriction expires, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to 
net assets without donor restrictions and repo1ied in the statements of activities as net assets released from 
restrictions. 

Donated Services, Materials and Facilities 

NAMI New Hampshire receives significant volunteer time and efforts. The value of these volunteer 
efforts, while critkal to the success of its mission, are not reflected in the financial statements because the 
accounting criteria for recognition of such voluntet)r e.fforts have not been satisfied. 

Donated goods and professional scrvict~s are recorded as both revenues and expenses at their estimated 
fair value. The Entity received donated supplies and professional services in suppo1i of fundraising 
activities totaling $28,500 and $72,831 during the years ending .June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

Functional Allocation of Expenses 

The costs of program and suppo11ing servic.:s activities have been summarized on a functtonal basis in the 
statements of activities. The statements of functional expenses present the natural classification detail of 
expenses by function. 

The financial statements report ce11ain categories of expenses that are attributed to more than one 
program or suppo1iing function. Accordingly, ce1iain indirect costs have been allocated among the 
programs and supp011ing services benefited. Salaries, employee benefits, payroll taxes, accounting, audit 
foes, legal fees, occupancy, maintenance, depreciation, equipment rental, equipment maintenance, 
telephone, and insurance arc distributed based on a cost allocation process. Expenses arc initially charged 
to each program or supporting function based on time and effort. Expenses associated with management 
and general are then allocated among the program and supporting services based on one of two criteria. 
The first criteria used is to allocate indirect costs based on the indirect cost rate established by the grantor. 
If there is no indirect rate specified, the overhead rnte as it appears on the IRS form 990 of the preceding 
year will b'e used. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and equivalents consists of demand deposits, cash 
on hand and all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of 90 days or less. 

9 
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NAMI NEW HAMPSHIRE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 

Investments 

Investments, which consist principally of money market accounts, mutual funds, and exchange traded 
funds, are carried at their market value at June 30, 2020 and June 30, 20 l 9. Investments reported as 
non-current represent amounts designated by the Board as hdd for an operating reserve. Unrealized gains 
and losses on investments are reflected in the statements of activities. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment arc stated at cost. Donated property and equipment is recorded at fair value 
determined as of the date of the donation. The Entity's policy is to capitalize expenditures for major 
improvements with a cost in excess of $1,000 and to charge to operations currently for expenditures 
which do not extend the lives of related assets in the period incurred. Depreciation is computed using the 
straight-line method at rates intended to amortize the cost of related assets over their estimated useful 
lives as follo\.vs: 

Building and improvements 
Equipment 
Furniture and fixtures 

Years 
39 
5 

7-10 

Depreciation expense was $32,043 and $26,887 for the years Cll(fod June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

Compensated Abseuces 

rull-time and part-time employees arc entitled to paid vacation based on their length of employment. 
Employees are allowed to carry forward a maximum of 10 vacation days. Upon tem1ination of 
employment, full-time employees will receive up to five days of accrued/unused vacation pay. Accrued 
vacation pay amounted to $40,839 and $32,888 as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

Bad Debts 

The Entity uses the reserve method for accounting for bad debts. An allowance for uncollected 
receivables of $4,000 has been recorded as of June 30, 2020 and 2019. 

Income Taxes 

The Entity is exempt from Federal income taxes under Section 50 l (c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code 
and is also exempt from State of New Hampshire income taxes and, therefore, has made no provision for 
Federal or State income taxes. In addition, the Entity has been determined by the Internal Revenue 
S..:rvice not to be a "Private Foundation" within the meaning of Section 509(a) of the Code. The Entity is 
annually required to file a Return of Organization Exempt from Income Tax (Form 990) with the IRS. 
FA.SB Accounting Standards Codification Topic 740 entitled Acco1111ting for Income Taxes requires the 
Entity to report uncertain tax positions for financial reporting purposes. The Entity had no uncciiain tax 
positions as of June 30, 2020 and, accordingly does not have any unrecognized tax benefits that need to 
be recognized or disclosed in the financial statements. 

10 
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NAMI NEW HAMPSHIRE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL ST ATf:MENTS (CONTINUED) 
For the Years Ended .June 30, 2020 and 2019 

Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally ac<.:epted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain 
reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Fair Value of Finrmcial Instruments 

Cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses are carried in the financial statements 
at amounts which approximate fair value due to the inhcn:ntly short-term nature of the transactions. The 
fair values determined for linancial instruments are estimates, which for ce11ain accounts may differ 
significantly from the ainounts that could be realized upon immediate liquidation. 

Change in Accounting Principle 

The Entity has adopted FASS Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2018-08 C!arifving the Scope 
and the Accounting Guidance for Contrihurio11s Received and Contributions lvfade, which is meant to 
assist entities in evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as contributions (nonreciprocal 
transactions), or as exchange (reciprocal) transactions, and determining \vhether a contribution is 
conditional. Adoption of ASU 2018-08 was required for financial statements issued for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2018. Accordingly, the Entity has adopted the new guidanui as of July 1, 
2019. The amendments in ASU 2018-08 are applicable only to the portions of revenue or expense not 
previously recognized, and therefore have no impact on prior-period results or on opening balances of net 
assets. 

NOTE 2-LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY 

The Entity regularly monitors the availability of resources required to meet its operating needs and other 
contractual commitments. Cash reserves in excess of daily operational needs arc invested with the 
objective to provide a mix of income and grO\vth, but overall to protect the organization's accumulated 
\Vcalth. Investments can be made in the following securities: certificate of deposits, money market mutual 
funds, exchange traded funds, and corporate bonds. Sources of liquidity include cash, investments, and 
accounts receivable. 

For purposes of analyzing resources available to meet general expenditures over a 12-month period, the 
Entity considers all expenditures related to its ongoing programs and activities as well as the conduct of 
services undertaken to support those activities to be general expenditures. 

The following table reflects the Entity's financial assets as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, reduced by 
amounts that arc not available to meet general expenditures within one year of the statement of financial 
position date because of donor and other restrictions or internal board designations. Amounts not 
available include the internal board designated funds. In the event the need arises to utilize the board 
designated funds for liquidity purposes, the funds could be dravm upon by a vote of the Finance 
Committee. 

Financial assets available for general expenditure, reduced by donor or other restrictions limiting their 
use, within one year of the financial position date, comprise the following: 
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NAMI NEW HAMPSHIRE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL ST ATEME~TS (CONTINUED) 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 

Cash 
lnvt:strnents 
Accounts receivable, net 

Tota! Financial Assets 
Less: 

Board designated funds 
Financial Assets A vuilable to Meet Cash Nl'eds 

for General Expenditures Within One Year 

2020 
$ 459,782 

1,170,935 
500,646 

2,131,363 

{441,241} 

$ 1,690,122 

NOTE 3-SIGNIFICANT CO~CENTRA TIONS OF CREDIT RISK 

2019 
$ 239,362 

723,394 
283,749 

1,246,505 

(444,251) 

$ 802,254 

The Entity maintains bank deposits at local financial institutions located in New I lampshire. The Entity's 
cash deposits arc insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up lo a total of $250,000 
at each financial institution. The Entity had unin:surcd deposits of $0 and $2,748 as of June 30, 2020 and 
2019, respectively. 

NOTE 4-INVESTMENTS 

Fair Value Afeasuremenls 

The Entity reports under the Fair Value iv1easurcm.:;nts pronouncements of the FASB Accounting 
Standards Codification (FASB ASC 820), whid1 establishes a framework for measuring fair value. That 
framework provides a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs of valuation techniques used to 
measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets 
for identical assets or liahilities (level l measurement) and the lowest priority to unohservahle inputs 
(level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below. 

Level 1 - Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or 
liabilities in active markets at the measurement date. 

Level 2 - Inputs to the valuation include: 

• Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 
• Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that arc not active; 
• Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; 
• Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by 

correlation or other means. 

If the asset or liability has a spccil1ed (contractual) term, the Level 2 input must be observable for 
substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 

Level 3 - Inputs to the valuation methodology arc unobscrvabk and significant to the fair value 
measurement. 

Jn some cases, the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorized 
within different levels of the fair value hierarchy. Jn those cases, the fair value measurement is 
categorized in its entirely in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is 

12 



DocuSign Envelope ID: F9O0137O-B41 C-451A-A513-8B5ACE5B93FD 

N AMI NEW HAMPSHIRE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 

significant to the entire measurement. Assessing the significance of a particular input to entire 
measurement requires judgment, taking into account factors specific to the asset or liability. The 
categorization of an asset within the hierarchy is based upon the pricing transparency of the asset and 
does not necessarily correspond to our assessment of the quality, risk, or liquidity profile of the asset or 
liability. 

Following is a description of the valuation methodologies us.:J for assets measured at fair value. 

1vfom:y market ji111d1·. mutual ji111d~. exchange traded jimds. and e11uities: Valued at the closing price 
reported on the active market on which the individual securities are traded. 

Certificates of deposit and corporate dehr securities.· Valued using a market approach valuation technique 
which incorporates third-party pricing services and other relevant observable information such as market 
interest rates, yield curves, prepayment risk and credit risk generated by market transactions involving 
identical or comparable assets or liabilities in valuing these types of investments. 

The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net 
realizable value or reflective of future fair values. furthermore, while the Entity believes its valuation 
methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies 
or assumptions to determine the fair value of ceiiain financial instruments could result in a different fair 
value measurement at the repmting date. 

The follovving tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the Entity's assets measured at fair 
value as of June 30, 2020 and 20 l 9: 

Assets at Fair Value as of June 30, 2020 ------

Money market mutual funds 
Mutual funds 
Exchange traded funds 

Certificates of deposit 
Corporate debt securiti1:s 

Total assets at fair value 

Le\'..t,:U Level 2 
$ 704,245 

245,195 
l 9(i,024 

$ 6,643 
18,828 

$ 1,145,464 $ 25,471 

Total 

$ 704,245 

$ 

245,195 
196,024 

6,643 
18,828 

l, 170,935 

Assets at Fair Value as of June 30, 2019 
.,._ .. ,_, ............. ,.,, "------------

Money market mutual funds 

Mutual funds 
Exchange traded funds 
Certificates of deposit 
Corporate debt securities 

Total assets at fair value 

NOTE 5-SBA NOTE PAYABLI•: 

$ 

$ 

Level l Level2 
246,475 
237,106 
207,145 

$ 6,057 
26,61 l 

690,726 $ 32,668 

At June 30, 2020 and 2019, the SBA note payable consists of the following: 
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$454,800 unsecured note payable, payable in monthly installments 
of $25,595 including interest at 1.00% beginning Kovember 14, 2020 
through April 14, 2022. The balance of the note is payable in full 011 

April 14, 2022. 

following are the maturities of the SBA note payable as of June 30, 2020: 

Year Ending 
June 30. 

202! 
2022 

Amount 
$ 200,022 

254,778 

$ 4~4,..§QQ, 

The SBA note payable was obtained under the Payroll Protection Program. The Entity may apply for 
principal forgiveness in whole or in part by the Small Business Administration under the CARES Act 
once certain eligibility criteria have been 1110:t. Any note balance remaining following forgiveness will be 
due in minimum monthly payments under the repayment terms detailed abovo:. The Entity beliefs all 
criteria wi!l be successfully met and does not anticipate repayment of any principal on this note. 

NOTE 6-MORTGAGE NOTES PAYABLE 

At June 30, 2020 and 2019, tht motigagt notes payable consist of the f<)l!owing: 

2Q2Q 
$348,000 mortgage note payable, secured by property, payable 
in monthly installments of $2,297 including interest through 
January 2026. The variable interest rate on the note is 5.0% 
through April 2022. Thereafter, the interest rate will change 
to equal the 5 year Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston 
amortizing rate plus 3.0'%. The interest rate change will not 
occur more often than each five years. The balance of the 
note is payable in full on April 2, 2032. 

$348,000 mortgage note payable, secured by property, payable 
in monthly installments ofS2,364 including interest through 
March 2038. The variable intcrst rate on the note is 5.35% 
through March 2028. Thereafter, the interest rate will change 
to equal the Federal Home Loan Bank I 0/20 amortizing advance 
rate plus 3 .0°/o, and remain at that rate for the duration of the 
loan. 

S 140,000 mortgage note payable to the City of Concord, '-Jew 
lfompsbire is non-interest bearing and is secured by the property. 
The Entity is a subreeipient of Community Development Block 
Grant funds which were used to create an ADA compliant 
community education space. Repayment of the funds will be 
required in the event of noncompliance with the grant. The note 
will be forgiven over a period of20 years through December 31, 2034. 

14 

$ 91,834 

324,732 

I 05,000 
521 

20)9 

$ 126,514 

336,284 

112,000 

$ 574~ 
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Under the terms of the mortgage note payable for the property located at 87 North State Street, Concord 
New Hampshire, with a balance outstanding as of June 30, 2020 of $324,732, the Entity must maintain a 
loan to value ratio of less than 80%. Additionally, the Entity must demonstrate a debt service coverage 
ratio of at least 1.00. 

Following are the maturities of the mortgage notes payahlc as of June 30, 2020: 

Year Ending 
June 30, 

2021 
2022 

2023 
2024 
2025 

Thereafter 

NOTE 7-BOARD DESIGNATED NET ASSETS 

{\mount 

$ 34,728 
36,550 
38,,167 

30,831 

13,914 
367,076 
521 

Board designated net assets consist ofthe following at June 30, 2020 and 2019: 

Contingency fund 
Fixed Asset fund 
Special Opportunity fund 

NOTE 8-CONCENTRATION OF REVENUE RISK 

$ 

$ 

2020 
369,237 

60,000 
12,004 

441,241 

2019 
$ 369,331 

60,000 
14,920 

$ 444,251 

The Entity's primary source of revenues is fees and grants received from the State of New Hampshire and 
directly from the federal government. During the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Entity 
recognized revenue of $2,152,786 (57 .70%), and $1,528,669 ( 45.72%), respectively, from fees and grants 
from governmental agencies. Revenue is recognized as earned under the terms of the grant contracts and 
is received on a cost reimbursement basis. Other suppoti originates from training services, contributions, 
in-kind donations, and othr.::r inconw. 

~OTE 9-PENSION PLA~ 

Th(;; Entity has a deferred compensation pension plan umler Sei.:tion 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. 
Under the terms of the plan, employee contributions arc made through a salary reduction plan. During the 
years ending June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Entity's contribution to the plan was equal to 2.0% respectively 
of each eligible employee's annual salary. The Entity contributed $22,250 and $18,834 for the years 
ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

NOTE 10-CONTINGEI\'CIES 

The Entity participates in a number of federally assisted grant programs. These programs are subject to 
financial and compliance audits by the grantors or their representatives. The amounts, if any, of additional 
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expenses whid1 may be disallowed by the granting agem:y cannot be detennincd at this time, although the 
Entity expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial. 

NOTE 11-SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Subsequent events have been evaluated through December 23, 2020 which is the date the financial 
statements were available to be issued. 
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**NAMI NH - Board of Directors 
Address: 85 North State Street, Concord, NH 03301 · Tel. (603)225-5359 
Fax: (603) 228-8848 · E-mail: info@NAMINH.org · Websites: www.NAMINH.org · www.TheConnectProgram.org 

----- ----------------

*OFFICERS: President, Russell Conte; 1st Vice President, Ross Cunningham; 2nd Vice President, Michael Wright, 

Treasurer, Rose Richardson; Secretary, Elizabeth Sanders I 

Phone· 
Cell (c) 

Home(h) 
Last First Address City State Zip Office (o) E-mail 

Atkinson Rev. Kate Concord NH 03301 

Blair Diane Farmington NH 03835 

- - Bedford NH 03110 

*Conte Russell Concord NH 03305 
I 

*Cunningham Ross Northfield NH 03276 

Donovan Todd Chester NH 03036 

Duffey Lisa Rochester NH 03867 

Eastman Chuck Penacook NH 03303 

Gardiner, Jr. Arthur Hanover NH 03755 

Janelle Peter Manchester NH 03104 
I 

La France Shawn Concord NH 03301 

Moler Teresa Nashua NH 03063 

Norian, MD Isabel Amherst NH 03031 

Palmer Zachery Manchester NH 03104 

Patel Jay Concord NH 03301 

Rabalais Jennifer Concord NH 03301 

*Richardson Rose Concord NH 03301 

*Sanders Elizabeth Hopkinton NH 03229 

Troie Jace Merrimack NH 03054 

*Wright Michael Boscawen NH 03303 -
Norton Kenneth Tilton NH 03276 

I Friday, August 28, 2020 
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NAMI New Hampshire Family Mutual Support Services 
KENNETH NORTON 

EDUCATION: UNIVERSITY OF CONNECTICUT, Hartford, CT 
MSW, December 1985, Casework Major, Group Work Minor 

UNIVERSITY OF MAINE, Orono, ME 
BA, May 1980, Philosophy and Sociology - with High Distinction 
BSW Certificate in Social Welfare from the Council on Social Work Education (CSWE) 

CERTIFICATIONS: NEW HAMPSHIRE BOARD OF MENTAL HEALTH PRACTICE 
LICSW Licensed Independent Clinical Social Worker. License #640 

WORK: 
EXPERIENCE: 

COMISSIONS & 
COMMITTEES: 

ACADEMY OF CERTIFIED SOCIAL WORKERS 
ACSW December 1987, Silver Springs, MD 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
NAMI NH National Alliance On Mental Illness, and Connect Program, Concord NH 
Statewide organization dedicated to improving the lives of those impacted by mental illness 
responsible for all aspects of the organization including financial, personnel, program 
development and implementation, public policy, advocacy, grant writing and fundraising. 
Reports to the Board of Directors. May 2011-present. 

DIRECTOR CONNECT SUICIDE PREVENTION PROGRAM 
NAMI NH National Alliance On Mental Illness, Concord, NH 
Responsible for development and implementation of the national best practice Connect Suicide 
Prevention Program including program design, evaluation. community organization, and 
developing best practice protocols for responding to suicide incidents. Other duties involve grant 
writing, marketing, conducting trainings, providing technical assistance to military, communities, 
coalitions and key stakeholders. Connect has trained in 40 states, 25 tribal nations and 5 
countries. January 2003 - May 2011. 

DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT 
Familystrength, Concord. NH 
Duties included fund-raising. grant writing, board development marketing, public relations and 
publishing newsletter. Other responsibilities included pa11icipation on agency management team 
and program development. March 1999 - January 2003. 

DIRECTOR OF SUPPORT SERVICES/DIRECTOR OF ADULT SERVICES 
Genesis The Counseling Group, Laconia, NH 
Senior management position involving complete administrative and clinical responsibility for 
seven programs with a combined thi11y five full time staff. Programs included residential. 
vocational, case management/outreach and office based treatment modalities. Responsibilities 
included establish and monitor program goals. develop and implement policy and procedures, 
oversee budget and personnel issues. Also supervised regional 24/7 psychiatric emergency 
services program covering Belknap and Southern Grafton County. July 1997- March 1999. 

GOVERNOR'S COMMISSON ON LAW ENFORCEMENT ACCOUNTABILITY, 
COMMUNITY and TRANSPARENCY 
Appointed to 14-member commission to address issues related to law enforcement, racial bias, 
transparency, misconduct, use of force and community engagement. June 2020-present 

44 



DocuSign Envelope ID: F9O0137O-B41 C-451A-A513-8B5ACE5B93FD 

NAMI New Hampshire Family Mutual Support Services 

VOLUNTEER 
EXPERIENCE: 

STATE DISASTER MEDICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
Appointed to statewide committee to oversee and provide feedback on NH's Crisis Standards of 
Care including resource/vaccine allocation during the COVID 19 pandemic. Served as a member 
of the Mental Health and Substance Use Disorder Subcommittee Committee. April 2020-present 

GOVERNOR'S SCHOOL SAFETY TASK FORCE 
Appointed to 14 member task force to address school safety issues and issue a report to the 
Governor with actionable recommendations to improve school safety. April 2018 - present 

GOVERNOR'S COMMISSION ON MEDICAID MANAGED CARE: 
Appointed position on twelve member commission to review and advise the Governor on the 
implementation of Medicaid Managed Care in New Hampshire. April 2012- December 2016 

STEERING COMMITTEE MEMBER 
National Suicide Prevention Lifeline, Mental Health Association ofNew York City 
Members provide expert guidance on issues that affect the network as well as recommendations 
and advice that support the Lifeline's mission and work to enhance its capacity to serve persons 
throughout the US who potentially could be suicidal. October 2008- present 

NATIONAL ACTION ALLIANCE FOR SUICIDE PREVENTION: 
Member of the Military and Veteran subcommittee, Survivor of Suicide Loss Committee and 
Sustainability Committee examining and making recommendations for implementation of the 
National Strategy For Suicide Prevention November 2011-2016 

CONCORD HOSP IT AL MEDICAL ETHICS COMMITTEE 
Community member of a multidisciplinary hospital ethics committee reviewing policies and 
procedures as well as individual case reviews to offer guidance and recommendations 
December 20 I 1- present 

WINNIPESAUKEE RIVER TRAIL ASSOCIATION 
Member of a small steering committee that has secured over $1.5 million in funding for a 
Multi-use pedestrian trail along the Winnipesaukee River. Assisted with landowner negotiations, 
publicity, legislative advocacy, community organizing, special events, grants and fund-raising. 
October 1998- present 

FOUNDER. 
Friends of the Winnipesaukee River, Tilton, NH. 
Established environmental advocacy group to promote economic development via conservation, 
and recreation on the Winnipesaukee River. Responsibilities include: community organizing, 
writing press releases, lobbying at state and local levels, attending public hearings organizing 
events etc. December 1987 - present. 

FOSTER PARENT. 
New Hampshire Division of Children Youth and Families, Laconia, NH 
Licensed Foster Home. October 1997- July 2008. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS. 
New Beginnings -A Woman's Crisis Center, Laconia, NH. 
Member of the organizational steering committee, and Board of Directors for agency serving 
victims of domestic violence and sexual assault in Belknap County. Served as Board Vice Chair. 
December 1990- April 2001. 
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SUBJECT MATTER Expert Panel on Crisis Care: SAMHSA Interdepartmental Mental Illness Coordinating 
EXPERT: Committee; by invitation: presented on: NH's Emergency Department Boarding Crisis. 

PUBLICATIONS: 

Bethesda, MD. July 9-lOth, 2018 

Expert Panel on Depressive Disorders. By invitation; SAMHSA 
Rockville, MD. August 9, 2016 

Expert Panel on Suicide Surveillance within State and Public Behavioral Health System. By 
invitation. Presented on: NH Suicide Data Surveillance Oi-erview. SAMHSA. Rockville, MD 
March 24. 2016 

Changing the Conversation: By invitation; National Action Alliance for Suicide Prevention: 
Reingold and Associates, Arlington, VA. January 28,2013 

Suicide Risk in Law Enforceme11t/J1Jilita1y. Northern. Ireland Police Commission. By invitation. 
November 26, 2010 

Postvention: Reducing Risk and Promoting Healing After a Suicide Death in the Military. By 
invitation. Briefing to David McGinniss, Acting Assistant Secretary of Defense, Reserve 
Affairs. Pentagon, Arlington, VA. July 2, 2010 

Consultant: American Association of Suicidology. Member of a team which developed suicide 
prevention training for the US Marine Corps: 2009-2010 

Media Recommendations for Reporting on Suicide V2.0; By invitation: Presented on Ne,r Media 
and Suicide Prevention: Annenberg Public Policy Center, Philadelphia, PA. August 25, 2009 

New Afedia Summit: Center for Mental Health Services: By invitation. Presented on The Neii· 
Hampshire Experience Using Social Media to Reduce Risk and Promote Healing After a Suicide 
May 6-7, 2009; Washington, DC. 

Planning Session For Updating/Rei·ising the National Strategy For Suicide Prevention. By 
invitation. SAMHSA and Suicide Prevention Resource Center. Washington, DC December 2008 

Responding to a suicide death: The Role of First Responders: Death Studies July 2017: 
pp. 1-9; Kenneth Norton LICS W. http://clx.doi.org/l 0.1080/07481187.2017.1335550 

Social Work's Ethical Responsibility to Train MSW Students to Work with Suicidal Clients: 
Joanna Almeida, Kimberly H. McManama O'Brien, Ken Notton; Social Work, Volume 62, Issue 
2, 1 April 2017, Pages 181-183, 

Media Recommendations for Reporting On Afass Shootings: Member of a work group led by Dan 
Reidenberg from SA VE which researched and produced this document. Released 2017; 
www.reportingonmassshootings.org 

Responding to Grief Trawna and Distress After a Suicide Death: US National Guidelines: 
Member of the National Action Alliance For Suicide Prevention Survivor of Suicide Loss Task 
Force which produced the document. Released April 2015. 

Series on Suicide Prevention: Nevv Hampshire National Association of Social Workers (NH 
NASW) News published quarterly; titles include: Suicide as a Public Health Issue; Suicide 
Prevention 111 NH: Survivors ofSuicide Loss; No Harm Contracts; A1ilitary/Veterans and 
Suicide; Restricting Access to Lethal Means; Suicide and Older Adults; Suicide Risk and LGBT 
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WEBINARS& 
VIDEO: 

SELECT: 
PRESENT A TIO NS: 

Youth; Clinicians as Survivors of Suicide Loss; Suicide and the Economy; Media, New Media, 
Safe Messagin;; & Suicide Prevention; Ethics and S21icide Prevention; Suicide and Self Harm; 
Homicide/S21icide: Suicide Attempt Survivors; and Bullying and Suicide. July 2007-Sept. 2011 

Media Recommendations for Reporting on Suicide: Member of the steering committee which led 
the workgroup to revise the US Recommendations for Reporting on Suicide Released 2010 
,._ ww .rcportingonsuicide.org 

Engaging and Supporting Families in Suicide Prevention: TVhat Work and Research are Showing 
SAMHSA/Suicide Prevention Resource Center; Richard McKeon, PetTy Hoffman, Ken Norton; 
Rajeev Ramchand; Alan E. Fruzzetti, March 5, 2018 

After A Suicide: The Zero Suicide Approach to Postvention 111 Healthcare and Behavioral 
Health Settings. Suicide Prevention Resource Center/National Action Alliance on Suicide 
Prevention; Candace Landmark. Becky Stoll, Eliza Jacob-Dolan, Julie Goldstein; Ken 
Norton; December 8, 2016 

Reporting on Suicide For Journalists: Alaska Department of Health and Social Services; Bureau 
of Mental Health: November 15, 2015. Covering Suicide: June 7, 20 I l 

Suicide Postvention as Suicide Prevention: Spark Talk Series; Suicide Prevention Resource 
Center. December 15, 2014 http:/ /www.sprc.org/video/suicide-postvention 

Addressing Death with Dignity in Massachusetts; Mass. Department of Public Health; Ann 
Duckless, MA and Ken No1ton LICSW. October, 2012. 
https://ww,v.voutube.com/\vatch?v=clfcEjMjp5OA 

."'-i'uicide Narratil·<'s in the i\'<•1·s Jkdia: What Etic:ct Jlii!,ht T/1e1· !Im·<' and What Can We Do. 
Suicide Prevention Rc:;ource Center. Presenters [Vladclyn Gould, Linda Langford, Ken Norton 
August 4.2011. http://www.sprc.org/cvcnts-trainings/suicidc-narratives-news-media-what­
effect-rn i 2:h t-the;-have-, vhat-can-we-clo 

International Association of Suicide Prevention: Ethical Issues in Working ,rith Individuals At 
Risk for Suicide. Derry, Northern Ireland: September 2019 

Postvention Australia: 2019 Australian Postvention Conference: Plenary: Engaging Communities 
in Postvention Response, Workshop: The Role of Faith Leaders in Suicide Bereavement, June 
2019, Sydney Australia 

NH Behavioral Health Summit: Guns, Violenc<', 1\fental Illness and Substance Use Disorders-Is 
There a Connection?: December 2018, lvfanchester, NH 

Daitmouth Center For Rural Emergency Services and Trauma Critical Role of Crisis Care in 
Suicide Prevention and Treating Alental Illness. October 2016, Lebanon, NH 

NAMI Executive Director Leadership Exchange: Strategies for Successful Board of Directors 
Recruitment: A Key to an Effective Non Profit: October 2017. Alexandria, VA 

University of Manchester, UK, Bereavement Conference: Clinicians as Survivors of Suicide 
Loss; Reducing Risk and Promoting Hect!ingfor Warriors, Family and Community After A 
Suicide; Assisted Suicide/Death irith Dignity; Manchester, UK; October 2015 
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LEGISLATION: 

NAM! Annual Convention: Per~pectives on Indii·idual, Family and Societal Stigma and the 
Impact on Special Populations: Scott Glaser, Josh Sprunger. Samuel Hargrove, Ken No1ton; Gun 
Legislation: Everything But The Science: Ron Hanberg JD, Laurie Ma1tinelli JD, Ken Norton 
Washington, DC. August 2014 

Congressional Briefing: Congressional Visitors Center: Warrior, Veterans and Family 1vfental 
Health Crisis: Peter Duffy, Constance Walker, Kenny Allred, Ken No1ton; Sept. 4, 2014 

New England Civilian and Military Conference: Support Our Troops, Preventinf!, Suicide for 
Warriors, Veterans and their Families. Chelmsford. MA April 2013 

Department of Defense/Veterans Administration Suicide Prevention Conference: Reducing Risk 
and Promoting Healing for Warriors. Family and Community After a Suicide. San Antonio, TX 
March 2011 

Scottish Association of Mental Health: Keynote; Community Networks for Suicide Prevention, 
Intervention and Postvention. September 2011 

Contact Northern Ireland Conference: Suicide Prevention What Works; Building Community 
Networks for Suicide Prevention, Intervention and Postvention. Belfast, NI. November, 2010 

Attorney Generals Conference on Child Abuse and Neglect: Building Beller Attachment: A 
Primer on Children ,rith Attachment Issues. Manchester, NH. September, 2010 

Iowa Suicide Prevention Conference; Keynote; Connect: A Community Approach To Suicide 
Prevention, Altoona IA. April 2009 

Connecticut Suicide Prevention Annual Conference; Keynote: A Afodel For Community Based 
Suicide Prevention; Cromwell, CT. September 2008 

Suicide Prevention in N Ireland A New Focus. Delegate Assembly to Prepare N. Ireland Suicide 
Prevention Strategy. Frame11·orks: Community Protocols for Suicide Prevention Aug. 2005 

New Hampshire SB 282: Assisted in drafting and coordinated the advocacy effo1t for successful 
passage of legislation relative to suicide prevention education in schools. 2019 

New Hampshire HB -100: Played a lead role in crafting legislation, public hearings. and successful 
passage of legislation to begin the process of mental health reform in NH: 2017 

Ne)\' Hampshire HB 1406 Utilized the legislative process to have NH become a Medicaid 
Suspension (rather than termination) state for individuals who are incarcerated 2016 

New Hampshire SB 33: Relicensing Requirementsfbr the Board of Mental Health Practice; 
drafted legislation and successfully advocated for legislation to require continuing education in 
suicide prevention for relicensing under the Board of Mental Health Practice: 2015 

NeH' Hampshire HB 138-1; Suicide Fatality Review Committee; drafted and successfully 
advocated the first legislatively established Suicide Fatality Review Committee in the US. 2010 

New Hampshire HB 1-136; Regarding National Violent Death Reporting System: Drafted 
legislation and successfully advocated for passage of a bill to establish a process for New 
Hampshire's participation in the National Violent Death Reporting System; 2010 
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AWARDS: 

REFERENCES: 

New Hampshire SB 390: Suicide Prevention Council: drafted legislation and successfully 
advocated for legislation to establish a NH Suicide Prevention Council 2008 

WHEELOCK-NARDI ADVOCACY AW ARD The Mental Health Center of Greater Manchester; 
··For a lifetime of unwavering commitment and advocacy on behalf of people afflicted with 
mental illness.'' October 28, 2018 

SPECIAL RECOGNITION AW ARD: New Hampshire Governor's Commission on Disability 
Accessibility Awards: For Embodying the Spirit of the American w/ Disabilities Act. Sept.2017. 

VICKI COTTRELL LEADERSHIP AW ARD: NAM! Executive Directors Council 
--from His Peers In Recognition of His Leadership at NAM!.'' June 2017 

BERNARD LOWN ALUMNI HUMANITARIAN A WARD: Univ. of Maine Alumni Assoc. 
"For dedication to the affi1111ation of life, the creation of a benevolent peaceful society. and the 
perpetuation of a caring and nurturing society:· October 2015 

CHAMPION FOR MENTAL HEAL TH: Riverbend Community Mental Health, Concord, NH 
For: Vision, Leadership, and Advocacy. October 2015 

LEADERSHIP AW ARD: NH Psychiatric Society 
For Leadership in service to people with mental illness. May 2014 

CHALLENGE COIN: Defense Center on Excellence for Psychological Health. Brigadier 
General Lorree Sutton. Arlington, VA. September 2009 

SOCIAL WORKER OF THE YEAR: National Association of Social Workers NH Chapter. 
For significant contributions to the profession and society. March 2009 

CHALLENGE COIN: NH National Guard Adjutant General Major Gen. Kenneth Clark 
For assistance and consultation in development ofNHNG Suicide Prevention Program Feb 2009 

CASE MANAGER OF THE YEAR 1991 - NAM! NH 
For outstanding services and advocacy for individuals with mental illness and their families. 

SENIOR SKULL HONOR SOCIETY - University of Maine 
For outstanding leadership, scholarship and exemplary citizenship 1979. 

Available upon request. 
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SUSAN L. STEARNS 
EDUCATION 

Family Mutual Support Services 

University of Massachusetts, Amherst, School of Education. Graduate Studies in Consulting & 
Counseling Psychology, 1986-1987. 

University of Massachusetts, Amherst. B.A. in English, 1986. 

CERTIFICATIONS 
New Hampshire Division of Children, Youth & Families Training Unit: Instructor, 1997. 
New Hampshire Police Standards & Trnining Council: Instructor, 1993. 
Task Force Against Domestic & Sexual Violence, Plymouth, NH: Advocate, 1990. 
University of Massachusetts Mediation Project, Amherst: Mediator. 1987. 

WORK EXPERIENCE 
NAMI New Hampshire (National Alliance on Mental Illness), Concord, New Hampshire. 
Deputy Director, 2016 - present; Director of Philanthropy, 2013-2016 
Responsible for program development and implementation, including evaluation and quality 
improvement, directs organizational efforts in the state's seven Integrated Delivery Networks, 
interfaces with criminal justice partners, oversees fund development and grant writing. 

Greater Nashua Mental Health Center at Community Council, Nashua, New Hampshire 
Director of Development, 2007 - 2013 
Developed strategies to diversify revenue and sustain programs: responsible for grant writing and 
management; provided operational management of collaborative projects including supportive 
housing, mental health court, and primary and behavioral health care integration. 

Harbor Homes, Inc., Nashua, New Hampshire 
Director of Proposal Development. 2005-2007 
Responsible for project design, proposal development and writing, as \Veil as building partnerships 
with community providers and stakeholders. 

Guardian ad Litem Board, Concord, New Hampshire 
Trainer, contracted, 2004-20 I 0. 
Trained Guardians ad Dtem on Mental Illness & Recovery: Effective Strategies for Working with 
Parents with Mental Illness; and Domestic Violence. 

Disabilities Rights Center, Concord, New Hampshire. 
Director, Coalition for Family Law & Mental Health Project, 2001-2006. 
Oversaw coalition-building and project management to promote legal equity for parents with mental 
illness, ensure adequate assessment of parenting competency, and improve outcomes. 

Whole Village Family Resource Center, Plymouth, New Hampshire. 
Executfre Director, 1998-200 I. 
Oversaw collaborative project for suppotting families with multiple risk factors for negative 
outcomes, including fund development and evaluation effo1ts. 

New Hampshire Coalition Against Domestic & Sexual Violence, Concord, NH. 
Program Specialist, 1993-1998. 
Responsible for providing training on domestic violence. sexual assault and stalking to various 

50 



DocuSign Envelope ID: F9D0137D-B41 C-451A-A513-8B5ACE5B93FD 

NAMI New Hampshire Family Mutual Support Services 

audiences, including law enforcement, EMS, child protective services. and other providers; oversaw 
evaluation efforts for fourteen certified crisis centers across the state. 

Task Force Against Domestic & Sexual Violence, Plymouth, NH. 
Administrative Director, 1988-1993. 
Oversaw agency operations, including all aspects of finance, human resources, grant 
writing/reporting. and project management. 

University of Massachusetts, Amherst, Ombuds Office. 
Assistant Omhudsperson, 1986-1988. 
Worked to resolve campus concerns for students, staft: faculty and visitors; mediating conflicts 
between campus students. staff and faculty. 

PROFESSIONAL ACTIVITIES 
Governor's Commission on Disability, Member, appointed by Gov. Maggie Hassan. since 2016. 
Justice Involved Veterans Task Force, Member, since 2013. 
Hillsborough County Coalition on Mental Health & Justice, Facilitator. since 2009. 
Lakes Region Mental Health Center, Member & Past President, Board of Directors. since 2007. 
Task Force on Family Law, Member, appointed by Gov. Jeanne Shaheen, 2002-2004. 

PUBLICATIONS 
2012 Medicaid Contracts Raise Questions Galore, Concord Monitor, (with H. Hafez). April 18, 

http://~vww.concordmonitor.com/article/324208/medicaid-contracts-raise-questions-galore. 
2009 Reclaiming Our Future: A Pathwayfor Treating Co-Occurring Mental Health and 

Substance Use Disorders in New Hampshire's Adolescents and Young Adults, NAMI New 
Hampshire, http://www.naminh.org/documents/NAMIReclaimingOurFuture.pdf. 

2008 Raising Matthew: A Mother Reflects on Medicating Her Son, No Health without Mental 
Health, Community Council of Nashua, NH, reprinted in Genesis Times, 2009, 
http://www. genesisbh .org/pdf/Genesis%20Times%20-%202009. pdf. 

2007 Coming in from the Cold: Creating Solutions to Homelessness for People ·with 
Disabilities, RAP Sheet: The Latest in Disability Research, Advocacy, Policy, and Practice, 
Spring Issue (for P. Kelleher). http://www.drcnh.org/RapSpring07.pdf. 

2006 Guidelines for Parents: Planning for Appropriate Care for your Children, Coalition for 
Family Law & Mental Health. 

2005 The Struggle for Justice: Seeking Legal Equity for Parents with Mental Illness. RAP 
Sheet: The Latest in Disability Research, Advocacy, Policy, and Practice, Winter Issue, 
http://www.drcnh.org/rapsheetwinterO 5 .pdf. 

2003 Best Practice Stmulardsfor Adequate Assessment of Parenting Competency, Coalition for 
Family Law & Mental Health, http://www.drcnh.org/ParentalAssessment.pdf. 

2003 Pointers for Legal Professionals Regarding Family Law Issues and Parents with Physical 
or Mental Illness, Coalition for Family Law & Mental Health, 
http://www.drcnh.org/Parenta1Pointers.pdf. 

1997 Sexual Assault, A Legal Ha11dbook for Women i11 New Hampshire. New Hampshire 
Commission on the Status of Women, http://www.unh.edu/womens-commission/legal­
handbook/sexual-assau lt.htm I. 

1994 Mediation and Domestic Violence: Considerations for Mediators and Battered Women, 
New Hampshire Bar Journal. Vol. 35, No. 2, p. 32. June. 
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TAMMY E. MURRAY, CIA 

SUMMARY: Expertise in accounting systems development, fiscal management, financial 
reporting and strategic planning. Proven record of developing and implementing financial and 
operational controls that improve P&L performance. Successful track record in building strong 
organizational cultures, identifying business opportunities, and delivering positive results. Known 
for ability to conceptualize and successfully implement human resource systems for sustained 
business growth. Core competencies include: 

Financial and strategic planning 
Auditing and compliance 
Budget development and management 
Federal grant management 

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE: 

Chief Financial Officer 

Cash flow management 
Employee relations 
Business process improvement 
Numerous accounting software programs 

NAM/ New Hampshire, Concord, New Hampshire 

• Integral member of senior management team leading complex nonprofit organization with multiple 
funding sources including federal and state contracts and an affiliated structure with diverse 
program areas delivered nationally. 

• Developed and utilized forward-looking, predictive models and activity-based financial analyses to 
provide insight into the organization's operations and business plans while managing 
organizational risk. 

• Reorganized accounting functions, investigated and implemented sophisticated fund accounting 
software, and achieved balance sheet creditability through proper accounting policies and 
procedures. 

• Implemented controls for A/P, A/Rand GIL, ensuring accuracy, consistency and compliance with 
all funders requirements including the Office of Management and Budget Uniform Administrative 
requirements, cost principles and audit requirement for federal awards. 

• Achieved unqualified audit opinions, with no material weaknesses or deficiencies during entire 
tenure of position. 

• Developed a financial measurement standard and developed system to monitor performance 
against goals including budgeting, forecasting and business models. 

• Engaged finance committee in investment, and asset management, growing activities by $1 M. 

• Secured line of credit to meet short term cash flow deficiencies. 

• Created the organizations first financial and human resources policies and procedures manuals. 

• Led and executed real estate acquisitions and renovations of organization's two facilities, 
reducing overhead expenses and enhancing organization's visibility. 
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• Developed and administered employee benefits including 403(b) plans for all employees. 

• Identified IT system upgrade requirements to accommodate expanding growth, and compliance. 

TAMMY E. MURRAY, CIA 

RELEVANT PRIOR EXPERIENCE: 

Field Operations Manager 
OfficeMax, Incorporated, Cleveland, Ohio. 

Senior Internal Auditor 
OfficeMax, Incorporated, Cleveland, Ohio. 

Collection Services Manager 
Balfour Company, Attleboro, Massachusetts. 

Senior Auditor/Accountant 
Balfour Company, Attleboro, Massachusetts. 

Office Manager 
C. Fisher Manufacturing, Smithfield, Rhode Island. 

Staff Accountant 
The Jan Companies, Cranston, Rhode Island. 

EDUCATION & PROFESSIONAL DESIGNATION: 

BRYANT UNIVERSITY, Bachelor of Science in Business Administration 
Major: Accounting 

Certified Internal Auditor Designation, Institute of Internal Auditors 

Member, The Institute of Internal Auditors North America 

HONORS & AWARDS 

Business Excellence in Non Profit Management 

Sep 2019 *New Hampshire Business Review 

Outstanding Women in Business Award Nominee 

Jan 2019 *New Hampshire Business Review 

Excellence In Non Profit Management 

Jun 2008 *The Corporate Fund 
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Bernadette P. Seifert 

Work: 85 No State Street, Concord, NH 03301 
bseifert@naminh.org 

Licensing/Certifications: 
• Licensed Clinical Social Worker, State of New Hampshire, #228, (1988 to present) 
• Academy of Certified Social Workers, (1987 to present) 

Education: 
• Master of Social Work, 1984, Boston University, Boston, MA (Concentration: Casework, 

Sub-concentration: Aging) 
• BA, Social Welfare, 1980, University of Southern Maine, Portland, ME 

Professional Experience: 

Director of Adult Programs, 2017 to present, and Coordinator of Older Adult Programs, 
2008 to 2017, NAM/ NH, NAM/ NH, Concord, NH 

• Oversee programs that provide support, education and advocacy for individuals and 
their families who are affected by mental health issues. 

• Develop and implement the NAMI NH Side by Side for Independent Living Program 
Geriatric Mental Health Training Coordinator, February 2008 to present, Northern New 
England Geriatric Education Center at Dartmouth Medical School, Lebanon, NH 

• Plan and develop educational programs throughout New Hampshire and eastern 
Vermont through the NNE Geriatric Education Center 

• Lead support groups for family caregivers of individuals with Alzheimer's and other 
related dementias. 

• Participate in a Geriatric Workforce Enhancement Program team (2015 to present) that 
provides support and education on geriatric best practices to primary care teams in New 
Hampshire, Vermont and Maine. (HRSA funded program) 

Lead Community Liaison - Seniors Count, 2003 to 2008, Easter Seals NH- Senior Services, 
Manchester, NH 

• Provided outreach and clinical case management to older adults in Manchester 
community 

• Assisted in development and management of Seniors Count Community Collaboration 
project. 

• Supervised Seniors Count Social Service team 

Consultant - Older Adult Services, 2000 to 2003, NH Division of Behavioral Health, Concord, 
NH 

• Provided ongoing consultation and support in various initiatives regarding older adult 
mental health services on a statewide basis 

Director of Bedford Counseling Services, 1995 to 2000 
Director of Senior Services, 1985 to 2000, Mental Health Center of Greater Manchester, 
Manchester, NH 

■ Managed outpatient psychiatric service program for older adults through 2000, and brief 
treatment of outpatient adults of all ages 
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■ Provided direct clinical services, including assessment, treatment planning, and 

individual and group psychotherapy 
■ Provided clinical and administrative supervision to clinical staff and Masters level interns 

Bernadette P. Seifert - Resume 
Page 2 

■ In addition to managing Senior Services Program, also managed 2 other clinical 
programs within the agency from 1995 to 2000 (Bedford Counseling Associates and 
Medication Services) 

Social Work Consultant, 1984 to 1985, New Hampshire Hospital, Concord, NH 
■ Provided assessment, treatment and discharge planning on a psychiatric hospital 

continuing care unit 
■ Supervised 2 Mental Health Workers 

Social Services Coordinator, 1982 to 1984, Patricia White Elderly Housing, Brighton, MA 
■ Provided information & referral, advocacy, crisis intervention and counseling in 250 unit 

public elder housing development 
■ Assisted in the grant writing for annual funding for the program 

Social Worker I Activities Director, 1980 to 1982, Tara Nursing Home, Dorchester, MA 
■ Provided counseling and patient advocacy for residents 
■ Presented social service educational programs for staff 
■ Planned and implemented recreational and educational activities in nursing home 

Internship Experiences: 
■ Geriatric Social Work Intern, September 1983 to May 1984 St. Elizabeth's Hospital, 

Brighton, MA 
■ Social Work Intern, (Advanced Field Placement) June to Dec. 1979, High Street Resource 

Center, Portland, ME 
■ Elder Advocate, September 1978 to June 1979, So. Maine Senior Citizens Council, 

Portland, ME 

Instructor Experience: 
Presentations on topics related to mental health to various groups throughout New Hampshire -
2008 to present 
• Presentations to family members and caregivers: Side by Side for Independent Living (a 6-

session series offered through NAMI NH) 
• Presentations to various professional groups. Topics include: Depression and Older Adults; 

Substance Abuse and Misuse in Older Adults; Understanding Dementia; Hoarding 
Behaviors in Older Adults; Suicide Risks in Older Adults; Caregiver Issues; Elder Abuse; 
Mental Health Issues in Older Adults, etc.) 

• Trainer for NH Police Standards Council on mental health topics, as well as for the Connect 
Suicide Prevention Program and CALM (Counseling on Access to Lethal Means) 

Committees/Coalitions: 
• National Association of Social Workers (NASW) - Board Member (2019 to 2022) 
• National Association of Social Workers - NH Chapter, (1986 to present) 

o NASW-NH Board Member (2007 to 2019) (Past-President 2017-2019) 
o NASW-NH Board President (2015 to 2017) 
o "Social Worker of the Year" Award - 1996 - NASW- NH Chapter 
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• NH Coalition on Substance Abuse, Mental Health and Aging (1999 to present; Chairperson 

2010 to present) 
• NH Coalition on Caring, (2010 to present) 
• NH Elderly and Vulnerable Adult Fatality Review Committee - NH Attorney General's Office, 

(2011 to present) 
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Elaine de Mello, LCSW 
85 North State Street 
Concord. NH 0330 I 

edemel k,ra:nam inh.org 

EDUCATION: 

University of Connecticut, Concord. NH: MSW (1985) 
Lehman College, Bronx, NY: MS in Therapeutic Recreation ( 1980) 
Ramapo College, Mahwah, NJ: BS in Psychology (1978) 

CERTIFICATIONS/LICENSES: 

LCSW, State of NH: 1987-Present 
School Counselor and School Social Worker, State of NH: 2000-2013 

EXPERIENCE: 

1999 - Present National Alliance on Mental Illness NH, Concord, NH 
Supervisor of Training and Prevention Services 

Develop and implement community protocols and training for suicide prevention, 
intervention and postvention leading to recognition as a National Best Practice program 
(the Connect Program). 
Provide consultation and training nationally in suicide prevention and postvention to 
schools/campuses, tribes. coalitions, organizations and state entities 
to implement a comprehensive public health approach using best practices from the 
National Strategy for Suicide Prevention 
Provide and guide postvention responses in the aftermath of a suicide to reduce further 
risk and promote healing 
Manage federal, state and private grants and contracts; procure new grants and contracts 
and oversee implementation of work plans, budgets and project goals including federal 
suicide prevention grants 
Hire and supervise staff and serve on management team to provide direction for agency 
Co-chair of Youth Suicide Prevention Assembly (statewide coalition in NH) and 
member of the NH Suicide Fatality Review Committee: reviev,' cases of suicide deaths, 
recommend practices and resources to statewide and regional paiiners, coordinate 
annual suicide prevention conference 
Develop and implement support and educational services for youth and adults provided 
through NAMI NH 
Coordinate & present statewide educational programs on mental illness and suicide 
prevention for schools, colleges, businesses, la\v enforcement personnel. health services 
providers. and the general public. 
Develop and lead courses for statewide specialized provider organizations including 
Division of Children, Youth and Families (DCYF), PSTC (Police Standards and 
Training Council) and NH National Guard 
Develop, review, and disseminate educational material about mental health and mental 
illness for target audiences 
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- Develop, revise and implement family education programs about mental illness. 
- Maintain contact with professionals. affiliates and consumer groups to provide 

consultation, technical support. educational material and resources. 
- Provide consultation and facilitation of national initiatives such as Zero Suicide and 

evidence based training programs 

2004-Present Plymouth State University, Plymouth, NH 
Teaching Lecturer, Health Education & Social Work 

- Teach Mental Health courses to Health Education and Social Work majors 

2002-2012 Genesis Behavioral Health. Laconia. NH 
Emergency Services Clinician & QI Consultant 

- Provide clinical emergency service response to residents of Belknap and Southern 
Grafton Counties 

- Serve on statewide behavioral health disaster response team 
- Conduct complaint investigations and assist with audits and quality improvement 

processes such as development of policies and procedures 

1999-2001 
Consultant 

Division of Behavioral Health, Concord, NH 

- Serve as consultant to conduct audits on clinical records in mental health centers around 
New Hampshire. 

1981-1999 Genesis the Counseling Group. Laconia. NH 
Quality Improvement Director (9/96-7 /99) 
Community Support Program Director (9/86-9/96) 
Vocational Services Coordinator ( 6/83-9/86) 
Clinicianffherapist (9/81-6/83) 

Trainer/Certified In: 
- NH Police Standards Council: Mental Health Crisis Response. Suicide Prevention and 

Postvention 
- Connect Suicide Prevention and Postvention. all disciplines 
- AMSR: Assessing and Managing Suicide Risk (AMSR) for clinical and college settings 
- CALM: Counseling on Access to Lethal Means 
- American Association of Suicidology: Ce11ified to conduct psychological autopsies 

Professional Memberships: 
- National Alliance on Mental Illness ( 1988-Present) 

Awards: 
- New Hampshire Rehabilitation Association: Practitioner of the Year ( 1985) 
- New Hampshire Alliance for the Mentally Ill: Administrator of the Year (1993) 
- New Hampshire Alliance for the Mentally Ill: Professional of the Year (1998) 
- New Hampshire State Award for Suicide Prevention (2012) 
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KEY ADMINISTRATIVE PERSONNEL 

NH Department of Health and Human Services 

Contractor Name: NAMI New Hampshire 

Name of Program: Family Mutual Support Services 

BUDGET PERIOD: SFY 2022 
. PERCENT PAID AMOUNT PAID 

FROM THIS FROM THIS 
NAME JOB TITLE SALARY CONTRACT CONTRACT 

Kenneth Norton Executive Director $130,000 0.00% $0.00 
Susan Stearns Deputy Director $104,000 10.00% $10,400.00 

Bernedette Seifert Director of Adult Services $83,000 60.00% $49,800.00 

Tammy Murray Chief Financial Officer $104,000 2.00% $2,080.00 

Elaine de Mello Director of Suicide Prevention $85,000 5.00% $4,250.00 
TOTAL SALARIES (Not to exceed Total/Salary Wages, Line Item 1 of Budget request) $66,530.00 
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Tammy Murray Chief Financial Officer $104,000 2.00% $2,080.00 
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